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COVAD AT A GLANCE

Based in Santa Clara, CA, Covad Communications (OTCBB: COVD)
is a leading national broadband service provider of high-speed
Internet and network access utilizing Digital Subscriber
Line (DSL) technology. Founded in 1996, Covad was first

to commercially deploy DSL in the United States and we now
have the largest national footprint of any DSL company.

We offer DSL and T1 services through resellers, including
ISPs and telecommunications carriers. In addition to DSL
and Tl services, we also sell managed security and emerging
products directly to small businesses and homes through our
web site and our telesales center, dedicated Covad sales
personnel, affinity groups, and affiliate partners.

BETTER ALL THE TIME
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NETWORK HIGHLIGHTS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2002

Reliability 99.99% / Homes and business passed 48 million / Central
offices 1,817 / MSAs served 96 / Total Lines (customers) 381,000
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To make broadband better,
we started by making|Covad a better company.

We all know that broadband makes the Internet better. The speed, capacity and always-

on capability give business and consumer users more

reach, more richness and more

reasons to log on and stay on. Recent data on the adoption of high-speed broadband and

the number of people that have converted from dial-up i
ing into demand —broadband has gone mainstream.

s proving that better is translat-

So while broadband makes the Internet better, Covad makes broadband better—a better
experience for customers and a better business for qur partners and shareholders.
This strategy brought us success in 2002 and will guide our next phase of growth and

financial performance in 2003 and beyond.
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“2002 was the year of developing and molding the network

and field technician teams into customer-focused, results-oriented
and financially disciplined people that eat, sleep, breathe

and live execution every day.”

MORGAN MCCHESNEY SVP NETWORK OPERATIONS

A BETTER NETWORK

Covad is a DSL provider with truly national coverage on its facilities-based network, passing
over 4o million homes and businesses, or almost half the national total of homes served by
broadband providers. The market for DSL lines in service is expected to increase at a 47%
compounded annual growth rate (CAGR) from 2001 to 2005 and Covad is well positioned to
participate in this growth without large capital outlays.

WHAT MAKES OURS A BETTER NETWORK? The original design of the Covad network gives it
a powerful advantage over other DSL systems. The network is flexible, so we can implement
and support new customer configurations with ease, and our system is engineered to accom-
modate new technologies and services as they are introduced. Our philosophy of deploying
new capacity in response to, not ahead of demand keeps utilization strong and reduces our
capital expenditures.

SCALABLE. We can grow and deploy our network in response to demand and still offer
consistently high levels of performance.

VISIBLE. Because we manage the network centrally and can monitor the system from ISP to
end user we are able to manage end-to-end performance and service.

FLEXIBLE. Our network is designed to accommodate many types of traffic, starting with data
and including future value-added services like voice and video.

RELIABLE. Above all, end users can rely on our network for its uptime and its quality-of-serv-
ice and throughput guarantees.

These qualities allow us to use the network as an engine of revenue growth from line addi-
tions to value-added products and services. Virtual private networking, firewall security serv-
ices and high-capacity hosting facilities are now available to our DSL and T1 customers, all
supported by our network reliability.




NETWORK AND PRODUCT KEY NETWORK
COSTS AS A PERCENT ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2082:
OF REVENUES

/ Extended DSL service to 96
388 —————————— Metropolitan Statistical
272% Areas (MSAs)
L ]

250 o Added T1 service in 46 MSAs
bringing vear end total to
76 MSAs

Expanded from 1,713 to 1,817
central offices in service

Successfully implemented new
customers from agreements
with strategic partners
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Covad’s Network Operations Center (NOC) works 24/7/365
to keep our end-to-end network performance at optimal
levels. First established in 1997 using the highest net-
work management standards, our NOC has evolved to serve
the unigque needs of our high-speed network efficiently
and effectively. The NOC’s 55 person Technical and
Management staff works as a team, and closely with
external suppliers to avoid problems before they occur
and to react swiftly to protect customer uptime.
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“We established broader distribution to allow more customers to
purchase our products and services in the way they choose.”

PATRICK BENNETT EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
AND GENERAL MANAGER, COVAD BROADBAND SOLUTIONS

BETTER CHANNELS

Our ability to give the right customer the right service at the right time drives our channel
strategy. Covad focuses on two distinct customer groups, each with its own value proposi-
tions and economics. What never varies is our commitment to end-user value and satisfac-
tion, whether that user is served directly by us, or through a reseller.

The relationships we are building with resellers and direct customers are the platform for the
introduction of products and services that add value and convenience. As of the end of 2002,
we offered 10 services for businesses and three for consumers, as well as two managed
security services. Continuous product and service innovation is a priority for Covad as we
deliver on our promise of an ever-better customer experience.




KEY CHANNEL ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2082:

/

Expanded AT&T relationship to include consumer and
business segments

Announced five-year wholesale service agreement with
America Online

Signed agreement with Sprint to supply DSL service
to business customers

Launched new transactional web site for direct sales

Expanded outbound and inbound telesales center




£, AOL. fJEarthLink

ror BROADBAND

NETWORKS

WHOLESALE LEVERAGE THROUGH STRATEGIC PARTNERS

In 2002 over 80% of Covad’s revenues were generated through more than 150 resellers, the
top tier of which are strategic partners. To these leading ISPs and telecommunications com-
panies including America Online, AT&T, Earthlink, MCI, MegaPath, SBC Communications,
Speakeasy, Sprint and X0, we are more than just another supplier. While we provide a range
of DSL and T1 services, which they in turn offer to their business and consumer end-users,
we also offer them dedicated sales and marketing support, marketing partnerships and tai-
lored product development. We work closely with these resellers to help ensure their busi-
ness success.

At the root of our attractiveness as a partner is our national footprint of our facilities-
based network. We are valued for our deep knowledge of DSL and T1 technologies, and
for the flexibility and responsiveness in everything we do, from our billing systems to our
network software.
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DIRECT RELATIONSHIPS BUILT ON CUSTOMER VALUE

Covad sells broadband access and related services directly to small bu

sumers segments under the Covad brand, as well as to smaller resellers an
a lot to offer our direct customers and the 2002 growth in this channelis ev
erful combination of availability, outstanding service and continuous prod

Our success in this market is telling us that we have something particul
offer small business—we are big enough to provide business-class broad

level, but small enough to maintain the same responsive, innovative
customers demand in serving their own markets. This best-of-both-wo
important to our brand-building and is reinforced in our marketing anc
programs. While we build brand awareness we also direct prospects to g

and web site, reducing the cost of customer aquisition, and delivering a
buying experience.
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It’s better in broadband. More than 33.6 million
Americans accessed the Internet at home via broadband

December 2002, according to Nielsen-NetRatings research.

This marks an increase of 59 percent over December 200
According to Nielsen’s research, broadband users spent
more time online, conducted more online visits and

viewed more pages than narrowband Internet users.

1







Being easy to doc business with is a defining element of
our brand and we make that promise real everyday: We hel
our small business customers choose the right product -

they don’t need to be “techies” to get it right. We offg

one-stop-shopping for all their broadband connectivity

needs, in one sales call. We make it easy to get
connected and to check on and maintain account status.
Covad works the details, so that our customers can focug
on what matters most to them—their business.
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“Through a much clearer understanding of our cost drivers,
we’ve established the financial discipline needed to support
our drive to profitability.”

MARK RICHMAN COVAD CFO

BETTER BUSINESS ECONOMICS

Covad operates on a formula that makes broadband a better business: Grow the number of
strong partner and customer relationships by offering better value and a better experience,
continually offer product and service enhancements to grow revenue per customer, and keep
costs down and asset utilization up by emphasizing demand-led capacity improvement. In
simple terms—get more value out of every customer, every investment, every partnership.

FOCUS ON PROFIT-WORTHY CHANNELS, SEGMENTS AND CUSTOMERS. Target segments
that offer significant growth, low churn and high potential for new service adoption.

OPTIMIZE SG&A. Eliminate costs that do not contribute to plan results, and continue to fund
demand-generating marketing and sales initiatives.

BUILD AND RUN THE MOST COST EFFECTIVE NETWORK IN AMERICA. Commit to demand-
led growth and outstanding technical and customer service to protect our facilities-based
advantage.




DOING MORE WITH LESS

Operating Expenditures in millions

REVENUE NETWORK AND SALES, MARKETING,
PRODUCT COSTS GENERAL AND
ADMINISTRATION
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DAVID MCMORROW
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT

ANJALI JOSHI
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
ENGINEERING

ANDREW LOCKWOOD
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT AND GENERAL
MANAGER, COVAD STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS

MORGAN MCCHESNEY
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
NETWORK OPERATIONS

CHARLES HOFFMAN
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER







“2003 will be a year of
performance and clarity for the
future of the company.”

CHARLES HOFFMAN
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

“2003 will be the year of health,
growth and transition to more
diversity in our channels,
revenues and supply chain.”

DAVID MCMORROW
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
STRATEGI!IC DEVELOPMENT

“2002 was the year of restarting
the business... 2003 will be the
year of growth.”

ANDREW LOCKWOOD
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT AND GENERAL MANAGER
COVAD STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS

“2002 was the year Covad expanded its
strategic relationships and increased
its focus on the customer experience

critical to support the organization’s
growth and drive to profitability.”

MARK RICHMAN
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER




“We’re generating a culture that will
turn strategies and ideas into
tangible actions and results:
profitable growth with a relentless
er experience.”
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Covad story.”

“My objective for 2003 is to
implement innovative network
and software technologies to
diversify our service portfolio.”

ANJALI JOSHI
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT ENGINEERING

“2003 will be a year of laser focus
on the customer experience and
execution, while becoming

the most cost effective network

in America.”

MORGAN MCCHESNEY
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
NETWORK OPERATIONS

ine Mnorut or 2003 IS to

AOTK Wi e regulatory and broader
imunity to secure those interests.

ERAD SONNENBERG |

EENERAL COUNSEL

“Treat me the way [ treat
my CUStOmErs.”

SQUREES
| QUOTE FROM SMALL BUSINESS RESEAREY
FOCUS @ROUPS. FALL, 2002
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to our shareholders

2002 was a watershed year for Covad. Our employees and our senior management team con-
tinued to build a better company, ending the year confident, revitalized and ready to go to
the next level of growth and earnings.

This confidence stems from the reality that broadband is what we do, and we know what it
takes to succeed — a clear, customer-focused vision, a bias for action and the flexibility to
adapt quickly in this very dynamic environment.

The managed growth of 2002 and the exciting outlook for 2003 are evidence that our confi-
dence is justified.

2002 iN REVIEW: THE VALUE OF FOCUS

It’s one thing to have a good year. It is guite another to have a good year in the midst of
a weak economy and a soft telecommunications sector. The fact is, it was a good year for
broadband, and a year of significant achievement for Covad. We came out of 2001 with a
belief in our ability to succeed as a facilities-based broadband services provider. During
2002 we committed to a new strategic business plan that gave us a clearer focus on
our wholesale and retail channels and allowed us to make faster, smarter choices as the
year unfolded.
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Of all our achievements in the year | think there are four|that represent our biggest break-
throughs and that will have the deepest impact on our future performance:

STRONGER TEAM. The achievements we have been demponstrating in the marketplace are
underpinned by a significant improvement in the leadership of Covad—at the board, man-
agement and employee levels. | am very pleased to say that some of this was achieved by
moving good people up in the organization and some through attracting good people from
outside of Covad. In my view, our ability to attract and retain good talent is the best possible
endorsement of our vision.

Our senior management team was strengthened significantly in 2002 with the addition of
Andy Lockwood who brings 21 years of experience in the telecommunications sector, includ-
ing as vice president of Advance Alliance where he led the relationship between British
Telecommunications (BT) and AT&T Wireless. Significant strengthening of the rest of the
management team also was important to Covad’s ability to progress throughout the year.
David McMorrow was promoted to Senior Vice Presiden|t of Strategic Development; Beth
Lackey was named Senior Vice President of Customer Operations, and Morgan McChesney
was named Senior Vice President of Network Operations.

While we have stronger individuals, | have also observed that we operate more effectively as
a team, unified around a shared vision for Covad and a common belief in our potential.

This new standard is also operating at the board level. 2002 saw vital improvements in our
governance capacity and direction. New board members have added depth in key areas.
L. Dale Crandall brings his extensive background in public accounting, finance and opera-
tions to his chairmanship of the audit committee, and Richard A. Jalkut provides the
perspective of his extraordinary career with TelePacific, NYNEX and numerous director
positions. As CEQ | am grateful for the rich mix of strategic business experience on
our board at a time when the quality of governance is a central concern for investors,
employees and customers.
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NEW STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS. One of the top priorities in our current planning horizon
has been to extend our business and consumer market reach through partnering with some
of the industry’s biggest and most trusted ISPs and telecommunications carriers. During the
year we cemented several of these partnerships with America Online, Sprint and AT&T. These
partnerships, along with our ever-better association with EarthLink, are a testament to the
ability of our broadband services to deliver profitable relationships to the major national
wholesalers. We in turn benefit from the big brand power of these major players by adding a
high volume of new customers for our services.

In 2002, we better aligned our focus to allow us to develop and serve these crucial relation-
ships. Under the leadership of Andy Lockwood, executive vice president and general manager,
Covad Strategic Partnerships, we now provide our strategic partners dedicated service and
technical teams with the depth and responsiveness required for a business of this complexity
and magnitude.

RENEWED FOCUS ON DIRECT CUSTOMERS. Building our direct sales to small businesses,
home offices and through smaller Value Added Resellers (VARs) under the Covad brand, is a
second major facet of our strategy on which we delivered in 2002. These segments offer
attractive growth, revenue and margin potential and Covad has a unique opportunity to build
its brand in this category by offering an affordable bundle of services geared to the needs of
small business.

Our priority for 2002 was to build an efficient direct sales-and-service infrastructure to allow
us to keep our cost of customer acquisition to a minimum. We made great strides here guid-
ed by the energy of Pat Bennett, executive vice president and general manager, Covad
Broadband Solutions. For example, our web site is now a major selling touch point with an
impressive eight percent of visitors who initially qualify for our service going on to become
Covad customers. That number was less than one percent coming into 2002. The site is now
our top driver of leads to our telesales center and is also a key part of our brand promise of
being easy to do business with.

Playing to our strengths in this channel is paying off in the form of line growth, revenue
improvement and excellent cash contribution. That is thanks, in part, to more than 1,500
Value-Added Resellers and I1SPs who are selling Covad’s services to small businesses in our
98 MSAs around the country.




SUSTAINED FINANCIAL DISCIPLINE. While the strict control of fixed and variable cost is a
constant theme in our operations, my view of financial discipline is broader. We cannot cut
our way to success. As important is the kind of intelligent shifting of resources to high-
strategic value expenditures and investments that we have demonstrated in 2002. Applying
financial discipline to the top line is just as important, forjexample by improving our pricing
models and developing profitable products. Some achievements this year include:

o We reduced the cost of operating our network (network and product costs) from almost
140% of revenues in 2001 to less than 78% of revenues in 2002, while simultaneously
investing wisely in capital improvements to increase scale. These reductions came prima-
rily from lower costs related to data transport and reduction in staffing levels in the oper-
ations and engineering groups.

* 2002 was the third year that Sales, Marketing, General and Administrative (SG&A) expens-
es moved solidly downward both in absolute terms and as a percent of sales. We have
streamlined our workforce and office facilities, shifting, for example to out-sourced tele-
sales in our direct channel as opposed to high cost face-to-face selling. Just as important
has been a measured increase in our advertising and marketing investment as we strate-
gically build brand equity and drive direct traffic to our web site.

This discipline is possible because we understand the jeconomics of DSL and broadband
services. We know how to price, how to operate and how to grow the network efficiently.

2002 saw numerous other achievements in our quest to make broadband a better business
and Covad a better company. For example, we launched several new products and services
aimed especially at our small business and consumer | markets and now offer a secure
broadband environment with TeleDefend. We also expanded our T1 offering to areas with-
out DSL access.

2002 RESULTS: PERFORMANCE WHERE IT MATTERS

The results for the year are very encouraging and tell us that the hard work we have done in
2001 and 2002 is beginning to bear fruit. Our 2002 earnings picture is greatly improved over
2001. With a loss from operations improvement of 66%, we are on-track to get Covad into a
positive position. Our balance sheet is very strong with total cash, cash equivalents and
short-term investments of over $200 million as of December 31, 2002, putting us in a good
liquidity position to pursue our 2003 objectives. This gives us real momentum into 2003 as
we continue to execute our business plan.

23 / covap o2
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2003: THE SAME, ONLY BETTER

The plan that my team and | put into place in 2002 will continue to serve us well as we pur-
sue new opportunities, make new choices and respond to new developments in our environ-
ment. The priorities in that plan are clear and consistent with our 2002 fundamentals:

FURTHER DEVELOP COVAD STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS. We will pursue aggressive growth
with our partners with strong brands and large instatled bases of dial-up users. To drive the
velocity of dial-up conversion we will strive to be the most profitable and the easiest broad-
band supplier to do business with.

CONTINUE TO BUILD COVAD BROADBAND SOLUTIONS. Our goal is to selectively increase
market share in the most attractive direct markets. We will continue to use tactical market-
ing and advertising campaigns to increase awareness of the Covad brand and of our cost and
service advantages. Controlling our cost-of-acquisition and cost-to-serve in these segments
will help us keep margins healthy, and rapid launch of new products and services will help
drive higher revenue-per-user. Of course we will not neglect the opportunity in our installed
base of direct customers and will endeavor to increase satisfaction, reduce churn, and
encourage word-of-mouth referrals.

STAY ON COURSE WITH DISCIPLINED FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT. Increasing the strength of
our operating economics and maintaining a healthy balance sheet are top priorities for 2003.
We will benefit from the economies of scale now present in our business model. For example,
while we might increase our netwark and product cost to accommodate growth in our sub-
scriber and service base, we intend to reduce that cost as a percentage of revenue. We expect
to continue to drive SG&A down, but will invest in tactical marketing campaigns to drive
demand. Capital expenditures on the network will be “success-based” to the greatest degree
possible, in other words, occurring in response to, not in anticipation of, customer demand.




CONTINUE TO IMPROVE AND GET MORE VALUE FROM OUR NETWORK. Even though our
technology is at the heart of our future success, Covad is more than a technology company.
We are driven by the imperative to satisfy our customers jand profitably meet the demand
that our brand awareness generates. We will continue to improve the depth and breadth of
our network in step with demand for the products that customers want. We will drive new
efficiencies in our ability to add customers and will explore new systems initiatives to better
support our partners and our customers. As always, we will keep our eye on results in relia-
bility, capacity utilization and cost.

Always in the background for Covad are the dynamics of the federal, state and local regula-
tory and legislative environments. Regulatory risk is a natural part of our business—at all
levels of government —and we have strong contingency plans to account for shifts in the reg-
ulatory climate. | am confident that Covad has the flexibility and core strength to adapt to
regulatory change and that our value proposition—to our partners and our customers—will
prevail. 2003 will be a year of seizing new opportunities and we are confident that we are bet-
ter able than ever to shape and respond to the developments in our industry.

As far as my own objectives are concerned, | am still deeply motivated by what drew me to
Covad in the first place: the potential in the business and the spirit in our employees. More
than ever we are resulits-oriented and confident in our future. It is a privilege to lead Covad
through such an exciting time as we proceed on our path to value creation.

vu\/\/

CHARLIE HOFFMAN
PRESIDENT AND CEO
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Selected Financial Data
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
For the year ended December 31

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenues, net $ 383,496 $ 332,596 % 198,736 $ 66,488 3 5,326
Depreciation and amortization 127,088 150,839 178,425 37,602 3,406
Provision for restructuring expenses - 14,364 4,988 - -
Provision for long-lived asset impairment - 11,988 589,388 - -
Loss from operations (180,992) (536,880) (1,354,192) (171,601) (37,682)
Interest expense (5,581) (92,782) (199,863) (44.472) (15,217)
Reorganization expenses, net - (62,620) - - -
Loss before extraordinary item and

cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle (184,828) (688,969) (1,433,887) (195,397) (48,121)
Extraordinary item — 1,033,727 — - -
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle — - (9,249) - —
NET INCOME (LOSS) (184,828) 344,758 (1,443,136) {195,397) (48,121)
Basic and diluted per share amounts:
Net income (loss) before extraordinary

item and cumulative effect of change

in accounting principle (0.84) (3.89) (9.41) (1.83) (3.75)
Extraordinary item - 5.83 - - -
Cumulative effect of accounting change - - (0.06) - —
Net income (loss) (0.84) 1.94 (9.47) (1.83) (3.75)

Weighted average common shares
used in computing basic and diluted
per share amounts 219,743,662 177,347,193 152,358,589 107,647,812 12,844,203

Pro forma amounts assuming the
accounting change is applied
retroactively:

Net income (loss) (184,828) 344,758 (1,433,887) (204,646) (48,121)
Net income (loss) attributable to .
common Stockholders (184,828) 344,758 (1,433,887) (205,792) (48,121)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) )
per common share (0.84) 1.94 (9.41) (1.91) (.75
As of December 31
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term

investments 204,567 283,863 869,834 767,357 64,450
Net property and equipment 108,737 215,804 338,409 186,059 59,145
Total assets 442,161 675,168 1,511,485 1,147,606 139,419
Long-term obligations, including

current portion 50,165 50,011 1,374,673 375,050 142,879
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 82,299 259,829 (182,663) 690,291 (24,706)

As of and for the year ended December 31
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Other Operating and Financial Data:
Homes and businesses passed 46,000,000 40,000,000 40,000,000 29,000,000 6,000,000
Lines installed 381,000 351,000 274,000 57,000 4,000
Capital expenditures for property
and equipment 22,782 15,732 19,234 174,054 41,177
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related
notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report and in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements, the accuracy of
which involves risks and uncertainties. Qur actual results could differ materially
from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements for many reasons includ-
ing, but not limited to, those discussed in “Part |. Item 1. Business-Risk Factors” in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere in this Annual Report and in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We disclaim any obligation to update information con-
tained in any forward-looking statement. See — Forward Looking Statements.”

(ALL DOLLAR AMOUNTS ARE PRESENTED IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Overview

We are a leading provider of high-speed Internet connectivity and related communications services, which we sell to businesses
and consumers indirectly through Internet service providers (“ISP”), telecommunications carriers and other resellers. We also sell
our services directly to business and consumer end-users through our field sales force, telephone sales, referral agents and our
web site. Our services include a range of high-speed, high-capacity, or broadband, Internet access connectivity and related serv-
ices using digital subscriber line (“DSL”), T-1, Virtual Private Network (“VPN”} and firewall technologies.

We have a relatively short operating history. We introduced our services commercially in the San Francisco Bay Area in December
1997. As of December 31, 2002, we believe we have one of the largest nationally deployed DSL networks based on approximately
1,800 operational central offices that pass more than 46 million homes and businesses in the United States. As of December 31,
2002, we had approximately 381,000 high-speed Internet access lines in service using DSL technology (approximately 2.6% of
these lines are associated with wholesale customers for which we recognize revenue when cash for services rendered is received
due to their financial condition, primarily concentrated among two such customers}. We also provide dial-up Internet access serv-
ice to over 49,000 customers through cur direct sales channel. We are also developing a variety of services that are enhanced or
enabled by our high-speed network.

Since our inception, we have generated significant net and operating losses and we continue to experience negative operating
cash flow. As of December 31, 2002, we had an accumulated deficit of $1,529,336. We expect losses and negative cash flow to con-
tinue at least into 2004. Although we currently have a plan in place that we believe will ultimately allow us to achieve positive cash
flows from our operating activities without raising additional capital, our cash reserves are limited and our plan is based on
assumptions, some of which are out of our control. If actual events differ from our assumptions, we may need to raise additional
capital on terms that are less favorable than we desire, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
could cause significant dilution to our stockholders. The inability to raise additional capital could also result in a liquidation or
sale of our company.

In the course of preparing our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2000, internal control weaknesses were
discovered, some of which continued into 2001 and 2002. The improvements we have made over the last several quarters to our
internal policies and procedures and systems capabilities have significantly improved controls. However, during our 2002 year end
financial statement close process, we identified some additional control weaknesses. Based on controls that have been recently
developed and implemented, as well as other planned enhancements, we do not expect any material adjustments in subsequent
periods related to these control weaknesses.
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Recent Developments

On February 20, 2003, the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) issued a p
Triennial Review. Based on our understanding of such press release, the FCC’s Trienn
us for the following reasons:

o

The FCC announced that it is phasing out its rule requiring line-sharing over a three

ress release announcing the results of its
ial Review is a significant development for

year period. Line-sharing currently allows

us to provision services using asymmetric DSL (“ADSL”) technology over the same telephone line that the local telephone com-

pany is using to provide voice services, The federal rules requiring line-sharing will b

ing which we will be required to transition our existing line-sharing customers to

tomers may be acquired at regulated rates only during the first year of the transiti

FCC-mandated maximum price for the high-frequency portion of the phone tine will
a separate phone line. This means that, unless we reach agreements with the local

e phased out over a three-year period, dur-
new arrangements. New line-sharing cus-
on. During each year of the transition, the
increase incrementally towards the cost of
telephone companies that provide us with

continued access to line-sharing, we will be required to purchase a separate telephone line in order to provide services to an
end-user. The cost of a separate phone line is significantly higher than the cost of g shared line. As of December 31, 2002, we

had approximately 169,000 subscriber lines using line-sharing agreements.

The FCC also announced that the local telephone companies would not be required

to allow us to access the packet-switching

functions of fiber-fed telephone lines to provision DSL services. This means that, unless we reach agreements with the local

telephone companies, we will be unable to provide our most commonly-used serv

ces to end-users served by fiber-fed lines.

This is significant for our business because it preserves a substantial limit on the addressable market for our services, there-

by limiting our growth. In addition, the local telephone companies are increasing t|

heir deployment of fiber-fed remote termi-

nal architectures. We currently have no lines in service using packet-switching capabilities of fiber-fed telephone lines.

The FCC announced that, if the state public utilities commissions deem it apprgpriate, companies that compete with the

local telephone companies would continue to have access to the {ocal telephone companies’ networks in order to provide

their services under an arrangement known as the Unbundled Network Element Pl

atform (“UNE-P”). Under this arrangement

these competitive telecommunications companies purchase phane lines in order to provide voice and data services. The

continued existence of the UNE-P provides us with the opportunity to potentiall
services of these companies.

¥ bundle our data services with the voice

The FCC has not yet issued its order in the Triennial Review and it is uncertain when that order will be released. Without that order,

it is difficult for us to evaluate the full impact of the FCC’s decision on our business. H
it appears that at some point we will be required to purchase a separate telephone

user, unless we reach agreements with the local telephone companies that provide us

owever, based on the FCC’s announcement,
ine in order to provide services to an end-
with continued access to line-sharing. The

cost of a separate phone line is significantly higher than the cost of a shared line. If we are unable to obtain from the traditional

telephone companies reasonable line-sharing rates substantially below the cost of a
ing stand-alone consumer grade services, which would slow the growth of our revenu
business plan.

On September 23, 2002, we announced that we signed a three-year agreement with
with the ability to purchase certain of our wholesale consumer-grade broadband Int
orders for these services in the fourth quarter of 2002. On January 1, 2003, we annou
granted AT&T three warrants to purchase an aggregate of 3,000,000 shares of our cof
$5.00 per share. Such warrants were immediately exercisable, fully vested and non-f
the measurement date for accounting purposes for the warrants was the date of gran
of approximately $2,640 was recorded as a deferred customer incentive in 2003 and
enues on a straight-line basis over the three-year term of the agreement because we
exceed the fair value of the warrants.
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separate telephone line, we may stop sell-
e and require us to significantly change our

AT&T Corporation (“AT&T") that provides it
lernet access services. AT&T began placing
nced that we amended this agreement and
mmon stock at prices ranging from $0.94 to

orfeitable at the date of grant. Accordingly,
L. The aggregate fair value of such warrants
is being recognized as a reduction of rev-
believe that future revenues from AT&T will




Revenue Recognition and Change in Accounting Principle

SEE NOTE 2 TO OUR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR A DISCUSSION OF OUR REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICY.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, we changed our method of accounting for up-front fees associated with service activation and
the related incremental direct costs in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements.” Previously, we had recognized up-front fees as revenues upon activation of service. Under the new account-
ing method, which was adopted retroactive to january 1, 2000, we now recognize up-front fees associated with service activation
over the expected term of the customer relationship, which is presently estimated to be 24 months, using the straight-line method.
As a further result of our adoption of SAB No. 101, retroactive to January 1, 2000, we now treat the incremental direct costs of serv-
ice activation, which consist principally of customer premises equipment, service activation fees paid to other telecommunications
companies and sales commissions, as deferred charges in amounts that are no greater than the up-front fees that are deferred.
These deferred incremental direct costs are amortized to expense using the straight-line method over 24 months.

The cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle resulted in a charge to operations of $9,249, which is included in net
loss for the year ended December 31, 2000. The effect of the change in accounting principle on the year ended December 31, 2000
was to increase loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle by $51,550 ($0.33 per share). For the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, we recognized approximately $11,661 and $18,661, respectively, in revenue that was included in the
cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2000 (none during the year ended December 31, 2002). The effect of that revenue
during 2001 and 2000 was to decrease net loss by $ 3,067 and $4,624, respectively. Although SAB No. 101 substantially alters the
timing of recognition of certain revenues and treatment of certain costs in our consolidated financial statements, it does not affect
our consolidated cash flows.

Reseller Financial Difficulties

Some of our resellers are experiencing financial difficulties. During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, certain
of these customers either (i) were not current in their payments for our services or (i) were essentially current in their payments
but, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, their financial condition deteriorated significantly and some of them filed for
bankruptcy protection. Based on this information, we determined that (i) the collectibility of revenues from these customers was
not reasonably assured or (ii) our ability to retain some or all of the payments received from some of these customers that filed
for bankruptcy protection was not reasonably assured. Accordingly, we have classified this group of customers as “financially dis-
tressed” for revenue recognition purposes. Revenues from financially distressed customers are recognized when cash for servic-
es provided is collected, assuming all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met, but only after the collection of all pre-
vious outstanding accounts receivable balances. Payments received from financially distressed customers during a legally defined
period prior to their filing of petitions for bankruptcy protection are recorded in our consolidated balance sheet caption “Unearned
revenues” if our ability to retain these payments is not reasonably assured. Although WorldCom, Inc (“WorldCom”) filed for bank-
ruptcy protection during the year ended December 31, 2002, we have not classified it as a financially distressed customer based
on WorldCom’s specific facts and circumstances in relation to the revenue recognition criteria described in Note 2 to our consoli-
dated financial statements. Therefore, we continued to recognize revenues from WorldCom on an accrual basis during 2002.

In order to limit our exposure to the financial difficulties of certain of our customers, we have implemented certain policies and
taken a series of actions. We may stop taking new orders from these partners but continue to install and maintain previously
accepted orders. We may terminate our contracts with those partners who are unresponsive to our collection efforts. While our
goal is to maintain consistent high quality service to end-users, we may also decide to disconnect some end-users that are pur-
chasing our services from customers facing financial difficulties and, in some cases, we may attempt to migrate these end-users
to another wholesale partner or to our own Covad Direct service, Although we have successfully migrated end-users, there can be
no assurance that these migrated end-users will continue to purchase our services. Even if we are able to migrate end-users, this
process requires a significant amount of our resources, which may impair our ability to install new lines as they are ordered. Any
of these circumstances could adversely affect our business.

Even though we are making progress in reducing the number of financially distressed customers for which we are not currently
recognizing revenue on an accrual basis, we may be unable to completely restore the remaining lines to normal revenue produc-
ing status and we may encounter future payment problems with our customers. In addition, in light of the financial pasition of
many of our resellers, should a particular reseller become subject to reorganization or.bankruptcy proceedings, we may be unable
to collect payments owed to us or retain payments or other consideration (including subscriber lines) already received by us.
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Restructuring and Reorganization Activities

On November 13, 2001, we announced the signing of a loan agreement and the restructuring of our resale and marketing agree-
ment with SBC. The agreements included four financial elements: a one-time $75,000 prepayment, collateralized by substantial-
ly all of our domestic assets, that SBC can use toward the purchase of our services during the next 10 years; a $50,000 four-year
loan, collateralized by substantiatly all of our domestic assets; a payment to us of a $10,poo restructuring fee in exchange for elim-
inating SBC’s revenue commitments under the original resale and marketing agreement; and the elimination of a $15,000 co-op
marketing fee owed by us to SBC under the previous resale and marketing agreement. We received these funds on December 20,
2001. Under these agreements, upon a change of control, we are required to repay any outstanding principal and interest on the
loan and any unused portion of the prepayment. In addition, SBC may accelerate any unpaid portion of the prepayment and the
loan in the event that we default.

On August 15, 2001 (the “Petition Date”), we filed a voluntary petition (the “Petition™) under Chapter 11 of the United States
Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code™) as contemplated by, and to implement, the agreements we entered into with the
majority holders of our then-outstanding debt securities (the “Noteholders™), and to restructure various financial obligations.
The Petition was filed with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy Court”) and was
assigned Case No. 01-10167 (JJF). Our operating subsidiaries did not commence bankruptcy proceedings and continued to oper-
ate in the ordinary course of business. We filed our First Amended Plan of Reorganization, as modified on November 26, 2001
(the “Ptan™). On December 13, 2001, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming the Plan and, on December 20, 2001 (the
“Effective Date”), the Plan was consummated and we emerged from bankruptcy. However, the Bankruptcy Court still maintains

jurisdiction over certain administrative matters related to the implementation of the

(an, including certain unresolved claims.

Under our Plan, we were able to extinguish approximately $1,394,020 in aggregate face amount of outstanding debt securities,

including accrued interest, in exchange for a combination of approximately $271,708 i
15% of the reorganized company. We also recorded an extraordinary gain on the
$1,033,727 in the fourth quarter of 2001.

On June 25, 2001, our former subsidiary, BlueStar Communications Group, Inc. (“Blue$
the benefit of its creditors (“ABC”) of all its assets to an independent trustee (th
immediately thereafter, the Assignee began an orderly liquidation of BlueStar that wa
fourth quarter of 2002. However, the Assignee has informed us that it is still in the
BlueStar’s creditors and that the process may extend into the second half of 2003. An
alternative to a plan of liquidation under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy C
mer assets are no longer controlled by us or BlueStar and cannot be used by either Bl
the liabilities of BlueStar. Consequently, the liquidation of BlueStar’s assets and the

n cash and 35,292,800 common shares, or
extinguishment of debt in the amount of

Star”), made an irrevocable assignment for
e “Assignee”) in the state of Tennessee.
s initially expected to be completed in the
process of resolving some matters among
ABC under Tennessee law is a non-judiciat
ode. As a result of the ABC, BlueStar’s for-

eStar’s or our board of directors to satisfy

discharging of its liabilities are currently

under the sole control of the Assignee. Therefore, due to this loss of control, we deco

solidated BlueStar effective fune 25, 2001,

which resulted in the recognition of a deferred gain in the amount of approximately $5/5,200 in our consolidated balance sheet as
of December 31, 2001. Such deferred gain represented the difference between the cartying values of BlueStar’s assets (aggregat-
ing approximately $7,900) and liabilities (aggregating approximately $63,100) as of June 25, 2001. Subsequently, we reduced the
deferred gain by $1,228 because certain BlueStar assets, which inadvertently had not been deconsolidated on June 25, 2001, were
identified during the fourth quarter of 2002 and deconsolidated at that time. The de‘ onsolidation of these assets was charged
against the deferred gain during the fourth quarter of 2002, resulting in a deferred ggin balance of $53,972 in our consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2002. We will recognize such deferred gain in our consolidated statement of operations when

the liquidation of BlueStar is complete and its liabilities have been discharged.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, in response to changes in the economy and the capital markets, we implemented a
business plan that helped to lower our cost structure in an effort to reach profitability earlier than previously planned. We took
the following steps: the BlueStar subsidiary ABC; elimination of our high yield bond debt through a reorganization under the
Bankruptcy Code; reduction of our workforce by as many as 2,600 employees from|a peak of approximately 4,000 employees
in 2000; reduction of the size of our network through the closing of approximately|200 underproductive or not fully built-out
central offices within the Covad network and approximately 250 central offices related to BlueStar; reevaluating the amount
and quantity of rebates and other incentives that we provide to our customers; consolidation and/or closing of administrative
offices throughout the United States; enhancement of productivity in our operations to increase customer satisfaction while
reducing costs; streamlining our direct sales and marketing channel and supplementing it with telephone sales and sales
through our web site; and evaluation and implementation of other cost reduction strategies, including reductions in travel and
facilities expenditures.

31/ covap o2




Related Party Transactions

Our former vice-chairman and former interim chief executive officer, Frank Marshall, who was also a member of our board of
directors from October 1997 to December 2002, was a minority stockholder and former member of the board of directors of one
of our former ISP customers, InternetCaonnect, which filed for bankruptcy protection in 2001. We recognized revenues of $5,601
and $7,189 related to this customer during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively (none during the year
ended December 31, 2002). Gross accounts receivable from this customer amounted to $1,375 as of December 31, 2000 (none at
December 31, 2002 or 2001). On January 3, 2002, we purchased substantially all of the assets of InternetConnect in an auction
supervised by the United States Bankruptey Court for the Centrat District of California. The purchase price for the assets of
InternetConnect was $5,470 in cash. Under the terms of the asset purchase agreement, we may be required to pay additional
cash of up to $1,880 for the assets of internetConnect, depending upon the outcome of a previous post-petition bankruptey claim
filed by us against internetConnect. That claim is still unresolved. We did not assume any liabilities or obligations of
InternetConnect or hire any of InternetConnect’s employees. The tangible assets purchased from internetConnect consisted of
accounts receivable, refundable deposits and property and equipment. We also purchased the right, but not the obligation, to
assume InternetConnect’s customer contracts. However, we did not exercise this right. Instead, we solicited approximately 9,250
DSL, T-1, VPN and dial-up customers of InternetConnect, and approximately 6,200 of these customers executed new contracts
with us or our resellers.

We acquired an equity interest in a supplier during 1999 and disposed of this interest in 2001. Purchases from this supplier totaled
$5,774, $13,928 and $53,156 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. We also purchased certain
products from a company in which Mr, Marshall serves as a director. Purchases from this vendor totaled $258 and $140 during the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively (none during the year ended December 31, 2000).

A member of cur Board of Directors, Richard Jalkut, is the President and CEO of TelePacific, one of our wholesale customers. We rec-
ognized revenues of $1,311, $1,822 and $1,317 from TelePacific during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Results of Operations

During the year ended December 31, 2002, our business operated in two distinct segments based upon differences in services and
marketing channels even though the cash flows from these segments were not independent of each other. Qur wholesale division
(“Wholesale”) provided high-speed connectivity services to |SP, enterprise and telecommunications carrier customers. Qur direct
division (“Direct”) provided Internet access services to individuals, corporations, small businesses and other organizations. We
evaluate performance of the segments based on segment operating results.

As part of the continuing evaluation of our network assets during the year ended December 31, 2002, certain matters were iden-
tified related to prior financial reporting periods that necessitated the recording of adjustments to certain expenses. Such mat-
ters were related principally to (i) changes in our network configuration, which necessitated reductions of the remaining esti-
mated useful lives of certain network equipment, (i) the capitalization of certain network and product costs that should have
been charged to operating expenses when they were incurred and (jii) various restructuring activities that resulted in the aban-
donment of certain network equipment and leasehold improvements. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2002, we
recorded additional (i) depreciation expense of $6,989, (ii) network and product costs of $2,63s, (iii) loss on the disposition of
property and equipment of $635 and (iv) interest expense of $51. In addition, as part of our financial statement close process for
the year ended December 31, 2002, we discovered that amortization expense related to non-cash deferred stock-based com-
pensation was overstated in prior periods by $3,213. Therefore, for the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded reductions
of (i) network and products costs of $320 and (i) sales, marketing, general and administrative expense of $2,893. Furthermore,
as part of the review of our December 31, 2002 tax accruals, we determined that we had overstated our transaction-based tax
and other tax accruals in prior periods by $4,804, which we adjusted during the three months ended December 31, 2002 through
a reduction of network and product costs. The adjustment was primarily driven by various complex rules surrounding our esti-
mated liability to the Federal Universal Service Fund (“FUSF”). We do not believe any of the aforementioned amounts are mate-
rial to the periods in which they should have been recorded, nor do we believe the prospective correction of such amounts dur-
ing the year ended December 31, 2002 is material to our consolidated operating results for such year (the prospective correction
of the aforementioned amounts relating to prior periods increased our 2002 consolidated net loss by $2,294, or $0.01 per share).
The impact on prior financial reporting periods would have been as follows if these amounts had been recorded in the correct
financial reporting periods: (i) net income for the year ended December 31, 2001 would have been decreased by $3,433 ($0.02
per share) and (i) net loss for the year ended December 31, 2000 would have been decreased by $1,139 ($0.01 per share).
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Reclassifications

Certain balances in the company’s 2001 and 2000 consolidated financial statements, i
been reclassified to conform to the presentation in 2002.

Three years ended December 31, 2002

Revenues, net

We recorded net revenues of $383,496 for the year ended December 31, 2002, an increa

nctuding certain operating expenses, have

se of $50,900, or 15.3%, over net revenues

of $332,596 for the year ended December 31, 2001. Net revenues increased by $224,764, or 141.6%, over net revenues of $158,736

for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increases in net revenues are primarily att

ributable to growth in the number of sub-

scribers resulting from our sales and marketing efforts. During the year ended December 31, 2002, we recognized revenues of

$1,010 from one of our wholesale partners that was not the result of services provided
fall in the wholesale partner’s contractual revenue commitment to us. In addition, as
ruptcy proceedings of certain of our wholesale customers, as discussed further below,
the year ended December 31, 2002 that were for services provided prior to January 1,

base to grow as we introduce new services and increase our sales and marketing effort

lower selling prices and customer incentives and rebates that we record as reductions

Inctuded in net revenues are FUSF charges billed to our customers aggregating $9,229

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

We recorded net revenues of $326,659 from our Wholesale channel and $56,837 frg

by us, but was instead a resuit of a short-
a result of the developments in the bank-
we recognized revenues of $4,427 during
2002. Although we expect our subscriber
s, our revenue growth may be impaired by
of revenues.

i

, $13,277 and $10,647 for the years ended

m our Direct channel for the year ended

December 31, 2002, an increase of $40,952, or 14.3%, and $9,948, or 21.2%, over net revenues of $285,707 and $46,889 from our

Wholesale and Direct channels, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2001. Net rev

were comprised of $133,535 from our Wholesale channel and $25,201 from our Direct
channel represented 85.2%, 85.9% and 84.1% of total net revenues for the years ended

enues for the year ended December 31, 2000
Channel. Net revenues from our Wholesale
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-

tively. Net revenues from our Direct channel represented 14.8%, 14.1% and 15.9% of total net revenues for the years ended December 31,

2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

We had over 150 wholesale customers as of December 31, 2002 compared to approxim
and 2000, respectively. The decrease in 2001 from 2000 was primarily attributable to
salers having exited the business. For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
tively comprised 93.3% and 88.5% of our total wholesale net revenues, respectively,

enues, respectively. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, receivables from these cus

79.9%, respectively, of our gross accounts receivable balance.

For the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, Earthlink, Inc., one of our wholesale g

Ltely 150 and 250 as of December 31, 2001
industry consolidation and certain whole-
pur 30 largest wholesale customers collec-
and 79.5% and 76.0% of our total net rev-
tomers collectively comprised 75.3% and

ustomers, accounted for 20.0% and 17.5%,

respectively, of our total net revenues. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, receivables from this customer comprised 25.9% and

26.0%, respectively, of our gross accounts receivabte balance. No other individual cus
total revenues in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

A number of our customers are currently in bankruptcy proceedings. Revenues frorn
mately 5.6%, 7.1% and 8.3% of our total net revenues for the years ended December
described above, although WorldCom filed for bankruptcy protection on July 21, 2002
WorldCom on an accrual basis during 2002 based on the revenue recognition criter
financial statements. Consequently, the disclosures in the following paragraph re
exclude amounts pertaining to WorldCom because we have not presently classified it
enue recognition purposes. We continue to attempt to migrate end-users from son
extent it is legally and operationally feasible.
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During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, we issued billings to our financially distressed customers aggregat-
ing $42,881, $74,928 and $45,278, respectively, that were not recognized as revenues or accounts receivable in our consolidated
financial statements. However, we ultimately recognized net revenues from certain of these customers when cash was collected
aggregating $47,609, $29,003 and $2,814 during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, some of which
relate to services provided in prior periods. Revenues recognized during the year ended December 31, 2002 include payments
totaling $4,427 from certain bankrupt customers that we received prior to January 1, 2002 and recorded as unearned revenues in
our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001 because our ability to retain these payments was not reasonably assured
as of that date. However, as a result of subsequent developments in the bankruptcy proceedings of such customers, we deter-
mined that our ability to retain these payments was reasonably assured prior to December 31, 2002. Consequently, we recognized
these payments as revenues during 2002. No such payments were recognized as revenues during the years ended December 31,
2001 or 2000. We had contractual receivables from our financially distressed customers totaling $6,031 as of December 31, 2002
that are not reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

Some of our customers, including WorldCom, who were essentially current in their payments for our services prior to December
31, 2002, or have subsequently paid all or significant portions of the respective amounts that we recorded as accounts receivable
as of December 31, 2002, have a high risk of becoming financially distressed. Revenues from these customers accounted for
approximately 34.6%, 14.2% and 13.9% of our total net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively. As of December 31, 2002, receivables from these customers comprised 31.8% of our gross accounts receivable balance. If
these customers are unable to demonstrate their ability to pay for our services in a timely manner in periods ending subsequent
to December 31, 2002, revenue from such customers will be recognized when cash is collected, as described above.

We have obtained persuasive evidence indicating that the financial condition of one of our wholesale customers, which was des-
ignated as financially distressed in 2000, improved significantly during the year ended December 31, 2002, principally as a result
of a capital infusion during this period. Consequently, we concluded that collection of our billings to this customer was now rea-
sonably assured. Therefore, we resumed the recognition of revenues from this customer on an accrual basis during 2002, which
resulted in the recognition of revenues in the amount of approximately $1,542 that relate to services rendered in periods ended
prior to January 1, 2002. Similarly, we resumed the recognition of revenue on an accrual basis for another wholesale customer dur-
ing 2002. However, we did not recognize additional revenue from services rendered in prior periods because such customer was
current in its payments. No similar amounts were recognized during the other periods reported in the accompanying consolidat-
ed financial statements.

We have billing disputes with some of our customers. These disputes arise in the ordinary course of business in the telecommu-
nications industry and their impact on our accounts receivable and revenues can be reasonably estimated based on historical
experience. Accordingly, we maintain an allowance, through charges to revenues based on our estimate of the ultimate resolution
of these disputes. These charges to revenues amounted to $2,322, $11,178 and $13,838 during the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, we wrote-off certain accounts receivable balances aggregating
$3,748, $6,701 and $13,468, respectively, against the allowance for customer disputes. During the year ended December 31, 2002,
we recovered $2,145 of accounts receivable balances previously written-off against such allowance. There were no similar recov-
eries of accounts receivable balances for the years ended December 31, 2001 and z000.

Network and Product Costs

We recorded network and product costs of $298,336, $461,875 and $432,153 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2002, network and product costs were 77.8% of revenues, a significant
improvement from the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, when network and product costs were 138.9% and 272.3% of
revenues, respectively. The decrease in netwark and product costs during the year ended December 31, 2002 is primarily attribut-
able to cost reduction initiatives to lower network costs related to data transport and a reduction in our workforce within the oper-
ations and engineering groups. In addition, the decrease in network and product costs during the year ended December 31, 2002
is attributable to the deconsolidation of our BlueStar subsidiary, which was effective June 25, 2001. Network and product costs
related to BlueStar were none for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $34,768 for the year ended December 31,
2001. The increase in network and product costs during the year ended December 31, 2001 is primarily attributable to the expan-
sion of our network. Network and product costs for the year ended December 31, 2002 include a credit of $5,550 from the settle-
ment of certain disputed network service obligations during the year and acquisition costs of $3,674 associated with certain of
InternetConnect’s former customers, as described above. Included in network and product costs for the year ended December 31,
2001 is a credit of $5,570 from the settlement of certain disputed collocation claims. We expect network and product costs to
increase in future periods if we can add subscribers and services to our network, but to decrease as a percentage of revenue as
we increase revenue and leverage the economies of scale that we expect.
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As discussed in the “Overview — Recent Developments” section of this document, there is uncertainty concerning our ability to

purchase line-shared services from the traditional telephone companies as a result of

the FCC’s decision in its Triennial Review of

the Telecommunications Act of 1996. As a result of those legal and regulatory proceedings, it is possible that the traditional tele-

phone companies could substantially increase the cost or reduce the availability of

ine-shared services, which would substan-

tially increase our overall network cost structure and might cause us to discontinue our consumer grade services for new and exist-

ing customers.

Sales, Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses

We recorded sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses of $150,373, $

99,908 and $292,991 for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2002, sales, marketing, general and adminis-

trative expenses were 39.2% of net revenues, a significant improvement from the year
these expenses were 60.1% and 184.6% of net revenues, respectively. Sales, marketin

sist primarily of salaries and related expenses, and our promotional and advertising €

The decrease in sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses in all periods i

workforce and a reduction in office facilities throughout the United States. For the yg

in sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses was offset by an increase o
ble to our radio, television and other various media marketing and advertising progra

campaign, which was launched on September 23, 2002. For the year ended Decembe

by $29,044, which contributed to the overall decrease in sales, marketing, general an

s ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, when
z, general and administrative expenses con-
xpenses.

s primarily attributable to a reduction in our
ar ended December 31, 2002, the decrease
f $10,616 in advertising expenses attributa-
ms related to our “Popularizing Broadband”
r 31, 2001, advertising expenses decreased
d administrative for the year then ended, as

compared to 2000. In addition, the decrease in sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses for the year ended

December 31, 2002, is attributable to the deconsolidation of our BlueStar subsidiar
marketing, general and administrative expenses related to BlueStar were none for the

to $11,510 for the year ended December 31, 2001. Sales, marketing, general and a

December 31, 2002 include a reduction of amortization expense related to non-cash
amount of $3,074, as discussed in more detail above.

We expect sales, marketing, general and administrative expense levels to increase in

ing efforts. However, as discussed in the “Overview — Recent Developments” section

, which was effective June 25, 2001. Sales,
year ended December 31, 2002 as compared
dministrative expenses for the year ended
deferred stock-based compensation in the

the near future as we continue our market-
of this document, there is uncertainty con-

cerning our ability to purchase line-shared services from the traditional telephone campanies as a result of the FCC’s decision in

its Triennial Review of the Telecommunications Act of 1996. As a result of those lega
that the traditional telephone companies could substantially increase the cost or red

which would substantially increase our overall network cost structure and might ca
sumer grade services for new and existing customers. If this occurs, our sales, market
els may be curtailed to respond to a new business structure.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses, which include network and product costs, sales, marke
provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries), depreciation and amortization expen
long-lived assets, litigation-related expenses and the write-off of in-process resear
$869,476 and $1,512,928 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 200
prised of $434,560, $630,934 and $705,425, respectively, from our Wholesale chan
tively, from our Direct channel and $50,133, $145,498 and $758,719, respectively, f

Provision for Bad Debts (Bad Debt Recoveries)

We recorded net bad debt expenses (recoveries) of $319, $(658) and $11,257 for the
2000, respectively. Bad debt expenses (recoveries) were 0.1%, (0.2)%, and 7.1% of ne
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in bad debt expense from 2001 to 2
accounts receivable balances from WorldCom and certain collection issues in our
expense from 2000 to 2001 is the result of improved collections in our Wholesale seg
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use us to discontinue our stand-alone con-
ng, general and administrative expense lev-

ing, general and administrative expenses,
ses, restructuring expenses, impairment of
ch and development costs, were $564,488,
D, respectively. These expenses were com-
nel, $79,795, $93,044 and $48,784, respec-
rom our corporate operations.

years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
L revenues for the years ended December 31,
002 is primarily attributable to pre-petition
Direct segment. The decrease in bad debt
zment.




Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment was $112,438, $137,920 and $91,205 for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease from 2001 to 2002 was due principally to asset retirements and certain assets
becoming fully depreciated during 2002, offset by additional depreciation expense of $6,989 recognized during 2002, as dis-
cussed in more detail above. The increase from 2000 to 2001 was due to the addition of equipment and facilities placed in service
throughout the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001. We expect depreciation and amortization to decrease in the future
because we anticipate that our capital expenditures in the near term will be less than historical amounts and additional assets will
become fully depreciated. We believe that the geographic footprint of our network will remain relatively unchanged and that near
term capital expenditures will be mostly limited to adding capacity to our network to support new users.

Amortization of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $14.650, $12,919 and $87,220,
respectively. The increase from 2001 to 2002 resulted from the resumption of our network build for selected markets during 2002,
which increased collocation fee expenditures and related amortization expenses. We do not expect to incur significant capital
expenditures for property and equipment in connection with this expansion. The decrease in amortization expense from 2000 to
2001 is a result of the impairment and corresponding write-down of certain intangible assets during the fourth quarter of 2000, as
discussed below.

Following the completion of our long-lived asset impairment analysis as of December 31, 2000, as discussed below, we also
re-evaluated the remaining estimated useful lives of our long-lived assets, including intangibles. As a result, effective January 1,
2001, we reduced the remaining estimated useful lives of all long-lived assets (excluding buildings and leasehold improvements)
that previously had estimated useful lives in excess of five years so that the residual balances and any subsequent additions are
now depreciated or amortized over five years. This change in accounting estimate increased our loss before extraordinary item
by $14,006, or $0.08 per share, and decreased our net income by $14,006, or $0.08 per share, in 2001,

Depreciation and amortization expenses for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were comprised of $121,553,
$140,827 and $79,421, respectively, from our Wholesale channel and $2,257, $2,393 and $7,770, respectively, from our Direct
channel, and $3,278, $7,619 and $91,234, respectively, fram our corporate operations.

Provision for Restructuring Expenses

In the fourth quarter of 2000, we announced our decision to adopt a new business plan to help lower our cost structure in an effort
to reach cash flow positive earlier than previously planned. These decisions were driven by changes in the overall economy and
the capital markets, and based upon a comprehensive review of our internal operations. Specific steps that were taken:

* raising revenue by reducing rebates and other incentives that we provide to customers and reducing new line addition plans for
200t to improve margins and reduce subscriber payback times;

e closing approximately 200 under-performing or not fully built-out central offices and reducing the size of our network to approx-
imately 1,700 central offices;

¢ reducing our workforce by 638 employees, which represented approximately 21% of our workforce;
¢ closing a facility in Alpharetta, Georgia and consolidating offices in Manassas, Virginia, Santa Clara, CA and Denver, Colorado;

¢ continued downsizing of our international operations and discontinuing plans to fund additional international expansion while
continuing to manage existing investments;

» enhancing productivity in our operations to increase customer satisfaction while reducing costs;
® restructuring our direct sales and marketing channel; and

* evaluating and implementing other cost reduction strategies, including salary freezes and reductions in travel, facilities and
advertising expenses.

In connection with our restructuring efforts, we recorded a charge to operations of $4,988 in the fourth quarter of 2000 relating
to employee severance benefits that met the requirements for accrual as of December 31, 2000. During the year ended December
31, 2001, we made further workforce reductions, and we paid $3,849 in severance benefits, which were charged against the
restructuring liability recorded as of December 31, 2000.
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We recorded additional restructuring expenses aggregating $14,364 during the year ended December 31, 2001, of which $2,140
related to the BlueStar shutdown. These expenses consist principally of collocation and building lease termination costs that met
the requirements for accrual in 2001. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we paid collocation and building lease termina-
tion costs of $12,355, which were charged against the restructuring liabilities recorded during 2001, No restructuring expenses
were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2002. However, we continue to consider whether additional restructuring is
necessary, and additionat charges to operations related to any further restructuring activities may be incurred by in future peri-
ods. For example, we may take steps to reduce our expenses in response to the February 20, 2003 announcement from the FCC

on its Triennial Review of the Telecommunication Act of 1996.

Provision for Long-Lived Asset Impairment

During the year ended December 31, 2001, we recorded an expense in the amount of
lived assets. in the fourth quarter of 2001, we determined that certain communication
continued use in our network. We also made the decision to sell our Manassas, Virginiz
tain furniture and fixtures. in March 2002, we entered into a non-binding agreement wi
than the current book value. Accordingly, we recorded a write-down of this property a
quarter of 2001. We completed the sale of this property in June 2002. We also recorded
$1,989 during 2001 associated with our BlueStar subsidiary.

At the end of 2000, various indicators pointed to a possible impairment of our long-li
rioration in the business climate for Internet and DSL service companies, the reduced
such businesses, significant declines in the market values of our competitors in the DS

511,988 for the impairment of certain long-

equipment was obsolete, based on its dis-
facility, including land, a building and cer-

th a third party to sell this property for less
nd equipment for $9,999 during the fourth

a write-down of goodwill in the amount of

ed assets. These indicators included dete-
availability of private or public funding for
service industry and changes in our strate-

gic plans. We performed asset impairment tests by comparing the expected aggregate undiscounted cash flows to the carrying
amounts of the long-lived assets. Based on the results of these tests, we determined that our long-lived assets were impaired.
With the assistance of independent valuation experts, we then determined the fair value of our long-lived assets. Fair value was
determined using the discounted cash flow method and the market comparison method. A write-down of $589,388 was recorded
as of the fourth quarter of 2000, reflecting the amount by which the carrying amount|of certain long-lived assets exceeded their
respective fair values. The write-down consisted of $390,600 for goodwill, $92,400 for other intangible assets and $106,388 for
certain property and equipment. In connection with this write-down, all of the goodwill recorded as part of the Laser Link and
BlueStar acquisitions has been eliminated.

Litigation-related Expenses

We recorded a credit to litigation-related expenses of $11,628 for the year ended December 31, 2002. The credit represents the
non-cash valuation adjustment for the change in value of the 6,495,844 shares of common stock that will ultimately be distributed
pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) described in Note 10 to pur consolidated financial statements. We
recorded litigation-related expenses of $31,160 for the year ended December 31, 2001, including a cash payment of $5,359 and a
non-cash charge of $25,801 for the value of §,328,334 shares of common stock that gither were issued in 2001 or will ultimately
be issued, as described above. We did not recognize similar charges for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Write-off of In-process Research & Development Costs

During the year ended December 31, 2000, we recorded an expense in the amount of $3,726 for the write-off of in-process research
and development (“IPRD”) costs that we obtained through the acquisition of Laser Link.net, Inc. There were no write-offs of IPRD
for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. :
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Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense was $459, $68,189 and $56,962 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Net
interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2002 consisted principally of interest expense on our long-term note
payable to SBC, which is further described below, less interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments balances. Net interest expense during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 consisted primarily of interest
expense on our 13.5% senior discount notes due 2008 issued in March 1998, our 12.5% senior notes due 2009 issued in February
1999, our 12% senior notes due 2010, our 6% convertible senior notes due 2005 and capital lease obligations, less interest
income earned on our cash, cash equivalent and short-term investment balances on hand during the years. For the year ended
December 31, 2001, our contractual interest obligation on the above-identified notes was $142,356. During the year ended
December 31, 2001, we completed a reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Under our Plan, we
were able to extinguish approximately $1,394,020 in aggregate face amount of outstanding Notes, including accrued interest, in
exchange for a combination of approximately $271,708 in cash and 35,292,800 common shares, or 15% of the reorganized com-
pany. As a result of the extinguishment, we did not recognize contractual interest expense of $49,574 for the year ended
December 31, 2001 on these Notes.

As described above, upon our emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy on December 20, 2001 (see Note 3 to our consolidated finan-
cial statements—Reorganization Under Bankruptcy Protection—for additional information), we entered into a series of new agree-
ments with SBC (see Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements— Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) — for additional information).
One such agreement {the “Credit Agreement”) involves a term note that is collateralized by substantially all of our domestic
assets. This note bears interest at 11%, which is payable quarterly beginning in December 2003. The entire unpaid principal bal-
ance is payable in December 2005. We have the right to prepay the principal amount of the note, in whole or in part, at any time
without penalty.

We expect future net interest expense to be limited to accrued interest on our 11.0% note payable to SBC offset by interest earned
on cash balances. We may, however, seek additional debt financing in the future if it is available on terms that we believe are favor-
able. if we seek additional debt financing, our interest expense would increase.

Reorganization Items

During the year ended December 31, 2001, we recognized expenses directly associated with our Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceed-
ing in the amount of $63,229. These reorganization expenses consisted of non-cash adjustments to unamortized debt issuance
costs and discounts and professional fees for legal and financial advisory services. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we rec-
ognized interest income in the amount of $609 on accumulated cash that we did not disburse as a result of our Chapter 11 bank-
ruptcy proceeding. This interest income has been offset against the reorganization expenses in our consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2001. :

Investment Losses

We recorded losses and write-downs on investments for the year ended December 31, 2002 in the amount of $1,847. This includ-
ed a net realized loss on short-term investments of $17, an impairment write-down of an equity investment of $388, our equity in
the losses of unconsotidated affiliates of $806 and a net realized loss on the sale of certain investments in unconsolidated affili-
ates of $636. We recorded losses and write-downs on investments for the year ended December 34, 2001 in the amount of $19,062.
This included impairment write downs of equity investments of $10,069, our equity in the losses of unconsolidated affiliates of
$13,769, the recognition of other than temporary iosses on short-term investments of $1,311, a net realized gain on short-term
investments of $5,909 and a net realized gain on the sale of an investment in an unconsolidated affiliate of $178. We recorded
losses and write-downs on investments for the year ended December 31, 2000 in the amount of $22,391. This included impairment
write-downs of equity investments of $17,826, our equity in the losses of unconsolidated affiliates of $6,452, the recognition of
other than temporary losses on short-term investments of $11,579 and a net realized gain on short-term investments of $13,466.

Extraordinary Item—Gain on the Extinguishment of Debt

We recorded a gain on the extinguishment of debt in the amount of $1,033,727 for the year ended December 31, 2001. See Note 3
to our consolidated financial statements—Reorganization Under Bankruptcy Proceedings —for additional information.
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Income Taxes

We made no provision for income taxes in any period presented in the accompanying co

incurred operating losses in each of these periods. In addition, we made no provision
resulting from the extinguishment of debt in 2001 (Note 3) due to the relevant tax regul
guishment income in Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings. As of December 31, 2002, we
eral tax purposes of approximately $646,421, which will begin to expire in 2021, if not
wards have been reduced by approximately $994,768 as a result of the bankruptcy. We
forwards for state income tax purposes of approximately $1,164,682, which begin to expi

capital loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $:

nsolidated financial statements because we
for income taxes on the extraordinary gain
ions governing the treatment of debt extin-

t
ﬁad net operating loss carryforwards for fed-

utilized. The federal operating loss carryfor-
also had aggregate net operating loss carry-
re in 2004, if not utilized. In addition, we had
27,008, which will begin to expire in 2006.

Realization of our deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss carryforwards and other temporary differences is dependent

upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, our
set by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased (decreased) by $12
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

net deferred tax assets have been fully off-
9,529, $(145,941) and $411,672 during the

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements,

which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accept

our financial statements requires us to make estimates that affect the reported an

expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our ac

and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Howey

mates under different assumptions or conditions. We have discussed the development

ed in the United States, The preparation of
nounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
ounting estimates on historical experience
er, actual results may vary from these esti-
and selection of critical accounting policies

and estimates with our audit committee. The following is a summary of our critical agcounting policies and estimates, which are

more fully described in the referenced notes to our consolidated financial statements

e As more fully described in Note 2, we recognize revenues when (i) persuasive evi

dence of an arrangement between the cus-

tomer and us exists, (i) service has been provided to the customer, (iii) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable and

(iv) collectibility of the sales price is reasonably assured. We recognize up-front fees
expected term of the customer relationship, which is presently estimated to be z
Similarly, we treat the incremental direct costs of service activation (which consist p
service activation fees paid to other telecommunications companies and sales con
no greater than the up-front fees that are deferred, and such incremental direct
straight-line method over 24 months.

As more fully described in Notes 1 and 2, we have concentrations of credit risk with s
riencing financial difficulties as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and were not current
dates. Accordingly, we recognize revenues from some of these customers in the per
the collection of all previous outstanding accounts receivable balances. We perform
financial condition and maintain an allowance for estimated credit losses. In additio

associated with service activation over the
4 months, using the straight-line method.
rincipally of customer premises equipment,
nmissions) as deferred charges in amounts
costs are amortized to expense using the

everal customers, some of which were expe-
n their payments for our services as of those
od in which cash is collected, but only after
bngoing credit evaluations of our customers’
n, we have billing disputes with some of our

customers. These disputes arise in the ordinary course of business in the telecommunications industry and their impact on our

accounts receivable and revenues can be reasonably estimated based on historical ex
charges to revenues, based on our estimate of the ultimate resolution of these dispy
coutd be different than what is reported if we employed different assumptions in est

As more fully described in Note 1, we state our inventories at the lower of cost orf
ability of inventories, we are required to make estimates regarding future custome

As more fully described in Notes 3 and 4, we implemented significant reorganizatio
We also consummated a plan of reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United Stat|
As of December 31, 2002, we had certain unresolved claims relating to our Chapte
dispute. Therefore, it is reasonably possible that such disputed bankruptcy claims
differ from the aggregate liability for such claims reflected in our consolidated bala

As more fully described in Notes 1 and 5, property and equipment and intangible as
ments for impairment. Property and equipment and intangible assets are depre
method over their estimated useful lives, certain of which were significantly revise
In assessing the recoverability of our property and equipment and intangible ass
estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of the
assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record additional impai
equipment and intangible assets.
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r demand.

n and restructuring plans in 2001 and 2000.
es Bankruptcy Code on December 20, 2001.
r 11 bankruptcy proceedings that remain in
could ultimately be settled for amounts that
nce sheet as of December 31, 2z002.

sets are recorded at cost, subject to adjust-
riated or amortized using the straight-line
d in 2001, as more fully described in Note 1.
ets, we must make assumptions regarding
respective assets. If these estimates and
rment charges relating to our property and




e As more fully described in Notes 3, 4 and 10, we are a party to a variety of legal proceedings, as either plaintiff or defendant,
and are engaged in other disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. We are required to assess the likelihood of any
adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters, as well as potential ranges of probable losses for certain of these matters.
The determination of the liabilities required, if any, for loss contingencies is made after careful analysis of each individual situ-
ation based on the facts and circumstances. However, it is reasonably possible that the liabilities reflected in our consolidated
balance sheets for loss contingencies and business disputes could change in the near term due to new facts and circumstances,
the effects of which could be material to our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

e As more fully described in Note 10, we are currently analyzing the applicability of certain transaction-based taxes to (i) sales of
our products and services and (i) purchases of telecommunications circuits from various carriers. This analysis includes discus-
sions with authorities of jurisdictions in which we do business to determine the extent of our transaction-based tax liabilities. We
believe that these discussions will be concluded without a material adverse effect to our consolidated financial position and
results of operations. However, it is reasonably possible that our estimates of our transaction-based tax liabilities could change
in the near term, the effects of which could be material to our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

e As more fully described in Notes 1 and 12, we account for income taxes using the liability method, under which deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of our assets and liabilities. We
record a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets to arrive at an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. in the
future, should we determine that we are able to realize all or part of our deferred tax assets, which presently are fully reserved,
an adjustment to our deferred tax assets would increase income in the period in which the determination was made.

e As more fully described in Notes 1 and 13, we account for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method,
and non-employees using the fair value method. Under the intrinsic value method, when the exercise price of our employee
stock options equals or exceeds the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, we do not record compensation
expense in our consolidated statement of operations. We use the intrinsic value method in accounting for employee stock
options because the alternative fair value accounting requires us to use option valuation models that were not developed for
use in valuing employee stock options. Rather, such option valuation models were developed for use in estimating the fair value
of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Because our employee stock options have char-
acteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimates of these valuation models, we believe such existing models do not necessarily provide
a reliable single measure of the fair value of our employee stock options.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS™) number (“No.”) 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transition for an entity that voluntarily
changes to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the dis-
closure provisions of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosure of the effects of an entity’s accounting policy with respect to
stock-based employee compensation on reported results of operations, including per share amounts, in annual and interim finan-
cial statements. The disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 were effective immediately upon issuance in 2002. As of December 31,
2002, we have no immediate plans to adopt the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.

In November 2002, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a final consensus on Issue No. 0o-21, “Accounting for
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” which is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods begin-
ning after June 15, 2003. Under EITF Issue No.oo-21, revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables are required to be divided into
separate units of accounting under certain circumstances. We will prospectively adopt EITF Issue No. 0o-21 on July 1, 2003, and we
do not believe the adoption of EITF Issue No. 0o-21 will have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

in November 2002, the FASB issued interpretation (“FIN”) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN No. 45 requires certain guarantees to be recorded at
fair value, which is different from current practice, which is generally to record a liability only when a loss is probable and rea-
sonably estimable. FIN No. 45 also requires a guarantor to make significant new disclosures, even when the likelihood of making
any payments under the guarantee is remote. The disclosure provisions of FIN No. 45 were effective immediately upon issuance
in 2002. We are required to adopt the recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 on a prospective basis with respect
to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. We do not believe the adoption of the recognition and measurement
provisions of FIN No. 45 will have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with an Exit or Disposal Activity.” SFAS No. 146 revis-
es the accounting for exit and disposal activities under EITF issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs incurred in a Restructuring),” by extending the
period in which expenses related to restructuring activities are reported. A commitment to a plan to exit an activity or dispose of
long-lived assets will no longer be sufficient to record a one-time charge for most restructuring activities. Instead, companies will
record exit or disposal costs when they are incurred and can be measured at fair value. In addition, the resultant liabilities will be
subsequently adjusted for changes in estimated cash flows. SFAS No. 146 is effective prospectively for exit or disposal activities
initiated after December 31, 2002. Companies may not restate previously issued financial statements for the effect of the provi-
sions of SFAS No. 146, and liabilities that a company previously recorded under EITF Issue No. 94-3 are grandfathered. We will
adopt SFAS No. 146 on January 1, 2003, and we do not believe the adoption of SFAS No. 146 will have a material effect on our con-
solidated financial statements.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and
Technical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” which
required all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt to be aggregated and, if material, classified as an extraordinary item,
net of related income tax effect. SFAS No. 145, which is effective in periods beginning after May 15, 2002, requires that gains or
losses from extinguishment of debt be classified as extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria of APB Opinion No. 30. We

are required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 145 on January 1, 2003, and we do n
have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Di
sedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Lon
vides a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of. The adoptio
solidated financial statements.

ot believe the adoption of SFAS No. 145 will

sposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which super-
g-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” and pro-
n of SFAS No. 144 had no effect on our con-

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Assets,” SFAS No. 141 eliminates the pooling-of-interests method of accounting for b
business combinations that were initiated prior to July 1, 2001. Under SFAS No. 142, go
are no longer amortized, but are reviewed annually for impairment or more frequently
of SFAS Nos. 141 and 142 had no effect on our consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2002, we adopted the provision in EITF Issue No. o1-9, “Accounting
Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products),” dealing with consideration
tive advertising and other arrangements. This provision of EITF Issue No. 01-g states t}
of the vendor’s products or services is presumed to be a reduction of the selling price
the vendor (i) receives an identifiable benefit in return for the consideration and (if) ¢
benefit received. If the amount of consideration paid by the vendor exceeds the estis
excess amount is to be recorded by the vendor as a reduction of revenues. The adoptic
rial effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obli

lsiness combinations, except for qualifying
odwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets
if impairment indicators arise. The adoption

for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a
from a vendor to a reseller under coopera-
hat consideration from a vendor to a reseller
of the vendor’s products or services, unless
an reasonably estimate the fair value of the
mated fair value of the benefit received, the
n of this new guidance did not have a mate-

gations.” SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair

value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of
fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset.

We are required to adopt SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003, and we do not believe the
rial effect on our consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments|
No. 133 standardizes the accounting for derivatives and hedging activities and requi

statement of financial position as either assets or liabilities at fair value. Changes in {

the hedge accounting criteria are required to be reported in operations. The adoptio
solidated financial statements.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, retroactive to January 1, 2000, we changed our me

ated with service activation and the related incremental direct costs in accordance w
the change in accounting principle resulted in a charge to operations of $9,249, whi
December 31, 2000. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, we recognize
enue that was included in the cumulative effect adjustment as of january 1, 2000 {(non
The effect of that revenue during 2001 and 2000 was to decrease our net [oss by $3,

adoption of SFAS No. 143 will have a mate-

and Hedging Activities,” as amended. SFAS
res that all derivatives be recognized in the
he fair value of derivatives that do not meet
n of SFAS No. 133 had no effect on our con-

thod of accounting for up-front fees associ-
th the SAB No. 101. The cumulative effect of
ch is included in net loss for the year ended
ed $11,661 and $18,661, respectively, in rev-
e during the year ended December 31, 2002).
h67 and $4,624, respectively.

41 / covap o2




Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Certain operating expenses for periods ended prior to December 31, 2002 have been reclassified to conform to the presentation
in the fourth quarter of 2002.

The Company’s 2002 and 2001 unaudited condensed consolidated quarterly financial information is as follows:

Three months ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2002:
Revenues, net $ 101,666 $ 97,733 $ 96,206 $ 87,801
Network and product costs 90,194 76,262 69,546 62,334
Sales, marketing, general and administrative 37,204 33,833 41,173 38,163
Loss from operations (56,374) (39,524) (51,864) (33,230)
Net loss (56,839) (40,793) (51,707 (35,489)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (0.26) (0.19) (0.23) (0.16)
Three months ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2001
Revenues, net 71,245 87,099 84,784 89,468
Network and product costs 135,950 122,420 104,273 99,232
Sales, marketing, general and administrative 62,039 58,292 45,618 33,959
Provision for restructuring expenses 14,805 2,942 (130) (3,253)
Provision for long-lived asset impairment — 2,230 (247) 9,999
Loss from operations (174,712) (141,847) (108,070) (112,251)
Loss before extraordinary item (198,535) (175,462) (139,749) (175,223)
Extraordinary item - - - 1,033,727
Net income (loss) (198,535) {175,462) (139,749) 858,504
Basic and diluted per share amounts:

Loss before extraordinary item (1.15) (1.01) (0.79) (0.96)

Extraordinary item - - - 5.65

Net income (loss) (1.15) (1.01) (0.79) 4.69

Our net revenues decreased in the second, third and fourth quarters of 2002 primarily due to the timing of cash collections relat-
ed to financially distressed partners and the impact of various promotional rebates and customer incentives programs. Cash col-
lected from our financially distressed partners that is included in net revenues was $16,862, $15,300, $12,077 and $3,370 for the
first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2002, respectively.

Revenues recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2002 include payments totaling $3,307 from certain bankrupt cus-
tomers that we received prior to January 1, 2002 and recorded as unearned revenues in our consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2001 because our ability to retain these payments was not reasonably assured as of that date. However, as a result
of subsequent developments in the bankruptecy proceedings of such customers, we determined that our ability to retain these pay-
ments was reasonably assured prior to March 31, 2002. Consequently, we recognized these payments as revenues during the three
months then ended. During the three months ended September 30, 2002, due to the developments in the bankruptcy proceeding
of another customer, we determined our ability to retain certain payments received from this bankrupt customer prior to January
1, 2002 was now reasonably assured. Accordingly, we recognized revenues of $1,120 that were deferred as of December 31, 2001.
In addition we recognized revenues of $1,010 during the three months ended September 30, 2002 from one of our wholesale part-
ners that was not as a result of services provided by us, but was instead a result of a shortfall in the wholesale partner’s contrac-
tual revenue commitment to us.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, retroactive to January 1, 2000, we adopted SAB No. 101, which requires up-front revenues to
be deferred. Also, as a result of the adoption of SAB No. 101 retroactive to January 1, 2000, we now treat the incremental direct
costs of service activation as deferred charges in amounts that are no greater than the up-front fees that are deferred. For the
three-month periods ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of 2001, we recognized approximately $4,264,
$3,679, $2,697, and $1,021 of revenues, respectively, that were included in the SAB No. 101 cumulative effect adjustment as of
January 1, 2000. The effect of that revenue during those periods was to decrease net loss by approximately $1,140, $949, $688
and $290, respectively.
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Our network and product costs have decreased in every quarter during the years end

the impact of cost reduction measures and efforts to maximize the efficiency of our

ed December 31, 2002 and 2001, reflecting
network. Included in network and product

costs for the three months ended March 31, 2002 are acquisition costs of $3,674 associated with our solicitation of

InternetConnect’s former customers. Inctuded in network and product costs for the th

ee months ended june 30, 2002 is a recov-

ery of $5,550 from the settlement of certain disputed network service obligations. Included in network and product costs for the

three months ended December 31, 2001 is a recovery of $5,570 from the settlement o

As part of the continuing evaluation of our network assets during the third and fourth
tified related to prior financial reporting periods that necessitated the recording of adj

f certain disputed collocation claims.

uarters of 2002, certain matters were iden-
stments to certain expenses. Such matters

were related principally to (i) changes in our network configuration, which necessita‘ted reductions of the remaining estimated

useful lives of certain network equipment, (ii) the capitalization of certain network
charged to operating expenses when they were incurred and (jii) various restructuring

and product costs that should have been
activities that resulted in the abandonment

of certain network equipment and leasehold improvements. Accordingly, for the thrée months ended September 30, 2002, we

recorded additional (i) depreciation expense of $9,584 and (ii) network and produc
ended December 31, 2002, we reduced depreciation expense by $1,306 and recorded
$1,930, (i) loss on the dispaosition of property and equipment of $863 and (jii) interes

costs of $1,215. During the three months
additional (i} network and product costs of
t expense of $75 as a result of this continu-

ing evaluation. In addition, as part of our financial statement close process for the fourth quarter of 2002, we discovered that we

had overstated our non-cash amortization expense relating to deferred stock-based
Therefore, we recorded reductions of (i) network and product costs of $671 and (ii) s
expense of $3,074 during the three months ended December 31, 2002. Furthermore

compensation in prior periods by $3,745.
ales, marketing, general and administrative
as part of the review of our December 31,

2002 tax accruals, we determined that we had overstated our transaction-based tax and other tax accruals in prior periods by
$5,291, which we adjusted during the three months ended December 31, 2002 through a reduction of network and product costs

of $5,122 and a reduction of sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses o
by various complex rules surrounding our estimated liability to the Federal Universal
aforementioned amounts are material to the periods in which they should have been
correction of such amounts during the year ended December 31, 2002 is material to
year. The impact on prior financial reporting periods in 2002, 2001 and 2000 would
been recorded in the proper financial reporting periods:

$169. The adjustment was primarily driven
Service Fund. We do not believe any of the
ecorded, nor do we believe the prospective
our consolidated operating results for such
have been as follows if these amounts had

Three months ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2002:
Net loss, as reported $ (56,839) $ (40,793) s (51,707) s (35,489)
Effect of prospectively correcting certain

differences relating to prior periods,

which is included in net loss, as reported - - 10,799 7,474)
Effect of unadjusted differences (1,186) (1,231) 1,386 -
Net loss, had unadjusted differences been

recorded, net of effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to prior periods (58,025) (42,024) (39,522) (42,963)
Net loss per share, as reported (0.26) (0.19) (0.23) (0.16)
Effect of prospectively correcting certain

differences relating to prior periods, which is

included in net loss per share, as reported — - 0.04 (0.03)
Effect of unadjusted differences (0.01) (0.01) 0.01 -
Net loss per share, had unadjusted differences

been recorded, net of effect of prospectively -

correcting certain differences relating to prior periods (0.27) (0.20) (0.18) (0.19)
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Three months ended Year ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 December 31

2001:
Net income (loss), as reported $ (198,535) s (175,462) $ (139,749) $ 858,504 $ 344,758
Effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to prior

periads, which is included in net

income (loss), as reported - — - — —
Effect of unadjusted differences 5,198 12 (4,841) (3,802) (3,433)
Net income (loss), had unadjusted

differences been recorded, net of effect

of prospectively correcting certain

differences relating to prior periods (193,337) (175,450) (144,590) 854,702 341,325
Net income (loss) per share, as reported (1.15) (1.01) (0.79) 4.69 1.94
Effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to prior

periods, which is included in net

income (loss) per share, as reported — - - — -
Effect of unadjusted differences 0.03 — (0.03) (0.02) (0.02)
Net income (loss) per share, had

unadjusted differences been

recorded, net of effect of prospectively

correcting certain differences relating

to prior periods (1.12) (1.01) {0.82) 4.67 1.92
Three months ended Year ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 December 31
2000:
Net loss, as reported $ (136,259) s (153,021) §  (246,344) $ (907,512} s (1,443,136)

Effect of prospectively correcting certain

differences relating to prior periods,

which is included in net loss, as reported - — - - -
Effect of unadjusted differences (692) 211 216 1,404 1,139
Net loss, had unadjusted differences

been recorded, net of effect of

prospectively correcting certain

differences relating to prior periods (136,951) (152,810) (246,128) (906,108) (1,441,997)
Net loss per share, as reported (0.93) (1.00) (1.58) (5.40) (9.47)
Effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to prior

periods, which is included in net

loss per share, as reported — - - — -
Effect of unadjusted differences — — - 0.01 0.01
Net loss per share, had unadjusted

differences been recorded, net of effect

of prospectively correcting certain

differences relating to prior periods (0.93) (1.00) (1.58) (5.39) (9.46)

Our selling, marketing, general and administrative expenses have decreased on a relative basis in most quarters during the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, which reflects the impact of our restructuring efforts and cost reduction measures. Our sales,
marketing, general and administrative expenses increased in the third and fourth quarter of 2002 primarily due to advertising
expenses attributable to our radio, television and other various media marketing and advertising programs related to our
“Popularizing Broadband” campaign, which we launched during the third quarter of 2002.
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We recorded a credit to litigation-related expenses of $11,628 for the year ended December 31, 2002. The credit represents the non-
cash valuation adjustment for the change in value of the 6,495,844 shares of common stock that will ultimately be distributed pur-
suant to the MOU described in Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements and in {Part I. Item 3 Legal Proceedings.” Charges
(credits) pertaining to litigation-related expenses were $(3,767), $(7,146), $1,884 and $(2,599), for the three months ended March
31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of 2002, respectively. We recorded litigation-related expenses of $31,160 for the year
ended December 31, 2001, including a cash payment of $5,359 and a non-cash charge of $25,801 for the value of 9,328,334 shares
of common stock that either were issued in 2001 or will ultimately be issued, as described above. We recognized $4,000 (non-cash)
of these charges in the second quarter ended june 30, 2001, $1,907 ($2,767 in cash and $(860) non-cash) in the third quarter ended
September 30, 2001 and $25,253 ($2,592 in cash and $22,661) in the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2001.

During the three months ended December 31, 2001, we determined that certain communications equipment was obsolete based
on its discontinued use in our network. We also made the decision to sell our Manassas, Virginia, facility, including land, a build-
ing and certain furniture and fixtures. In March 2002, we entered into a non-binding agreement with a third party to sell this prop-
erty for less than its current book value. Accordingly, we recorded a write-down of this|property and equipment for $9,999 during
the three months ended December 31, 2001. We completed the sale of this property in June 2002.

We have experienced decreasing losses from operations on a quarterly basis during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001
as a result of reduced operating expenses levels. Depreciation and amortization have been trending downwards as a result of
decreased capital expenditures and certain assets becoming fully depreciated. We expect to sustain quarterly net losses for at
least the next twa years. Our annual and quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of numer-
ous factors, including the factors described in “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our operations have required substantial capital investment for the procurement, design and construction of our central office col-
location facilities, the design, creation, implementation and maintenance of our software, the purchase of telecommunications
equipment and the design, development and maintenance of our networks. Capital expenditures were $26,564 for the year ended
December 31, 2002. We expect that our capital expenditures related to the purchase of infrastructure equipment necessary for the
development and expansion of our networks and the development of new regions will be lower in future periods while incremen-
tal, or “success-based,” capital expenditures related to the addition of subscribers in existing regions will increase proportion-
ately in relation to the number of new subscribers that we add to our network.

From our inception through December 31, 2002, we financed our operations primarily|through private placements of $220,600 of
equity securities, $1,282,000 in net proceeds raised from the issuance of notes (including our agreement with SBC for a $50,000
note payable), a $75,000 collateralized deposit and $719,000 in net proceeds raised from public equity offerings. As of December
31, 2002, we had an accumulated deficit of $1,529,336, and unrestricted cash, cash pquivalents, and short-term investments of
$204,567. in addition, we had stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2002 of $82,2p9.

Net cash used in our operating activities was $73,967 for the year ended December 31, 2002. The net cash used in our operating
activities during this period was primarily due to the net loss of $184,828, a decrease in accounts payable of $4,927, a decrease
in collateralized customer deposits of $6,809, a decrease in unearned revenues of $24,882 and a reduction of non-cash litigation-
related expenses of $11,628, offset by depreciation and amortization charges of $127,088, a decrease in deferred costs of service
activation of $17,676, a decrease in restricted cash of $8,702 and a net decrease in other operating assets and liabilities of $4,259.

Net cash used in our investing activities was $40,113 for the year ended December 31, 2002, The net cash used in our investing
activities during this period was primarily due to purchases of short-term investments of $237,088 and capital expenditures of
$26,564, offset by maturities of short-term investments of $165,526, sales of short-term investments of $40,017, proceeds from
the sale of property and equipment of $13,451 and proceeds from the sale of investments in unconsolidated affiliates of $3,360.

Net cash provided by our financing activities was $2,761 for the year ended Decemper 31, 2002. The net cash provided by our
financing activities during this period was due to proceeds from the issuance of common stock of $3,089, offset by principal pay-
ments under capital lease obligations of $328.
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As of December 31, 2002, we had $96,491 in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and $108,076 in unrestricted short-term invest-
ments. We expect to experience negative cash flow from operating and investing activities into 2004 due to continued development
of new services and the addition of new end-users to our network. Our future cash requirements for developing, deploying and
enhancing our netwark and operating our business, as well as our revenues, will depend on a number of factars including:

o the effect of the FCC’s decision in the Triennial Review, our continuing ability to access line-shared telephone wires and our abil-
ity to obtain access to the traditional telephone companies’ remote terminals;

= the rate at which resellers and end-users purchase and pay for our services and the pricing of such services;

e the financial condition of our customers;

o the level of marketing required to acquire and retain customers and to attain a competitive position in the marketplace;

e the rate at which we invest in engineering, development and intellectual property with respect to existing and future technology;
e the operational costs that we incur to install, maintain and repair end-user lines and our network as a whole;

= pending litigation;

e existing and future technology;

¢ unanticipated opportunities;

® network development schedules and associated costs; and

© the number of regions entered, the timing of entry and services offered.

In addition, we may wish to selectively pursue possible acquisitions of, or investments in businesses, technologies or products
complementary to ours in order to expand our geographic presence, broaden our product and service offerings and achieve oper-
ating efficiencies. We may not have sufficient liquidity, or we may be unable to obtain additional financing on favorable terms or
at all, in order to finance such an acquisition or investment.

Our contractual debt and lease obligations as of December 31, 2002 for the next five years, and thereafter, were as follows:

2003 2004-2005 2006-2007 Thereafter Total

Note payable to SBC $ - 3 50,000 § - % - 3 50,000
Capital leases 165 — — — 165
QOffice leases 5,424 6,112 2,450 720 14,706
Other operating leases 1,451 209 4 - 1,664
7,040 56,321 2,454 720 65,535

We lease certain vehicles, equipment and office facilities under various noncancelable operating leases that expire at various
dates through 2009. The facility leases generally require us to pay operating costs, including property taxes, insurance and main-
tenance, and contain scheduled rent increases and certain other rent escalation clauses. Rent expense is reflected in our consol-
idated financial statements on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. We are also obligated under a capital
equipment lease, which expires in 2003.

Our 2003 business plan includes certain discretionary spending that is based on several assumptions, including growth of our
subscriber base with a reasonable per subscriber profit margin and improvements in productivity. If necessary, we will curtail this
discretionary spending so that we can continue as a going concern at least through December 31, 2003 using only our unrestrict-
ed cash, cash equivalent and short-term investment balances in existence as of December 31, 2002. Additionally, on February zo,
2003, the FCC announced the results of the Triennial Review of its rules for network unbundling obligations of Incumbent Local
Exchange Carriers. Among other things, the FCC announced that it will phase-out its rule requiring line-sharing over a three-year
period. While the FCC has not yet issued its order pursuant to the Triennial Review, the ultimate impact of the FCC’s February 20,
2003 announcement on our business, which relies on line-sharing to serve certain consumer end-users, will depend on our abili-
ty to negotiate fair and reasonable prices substantially lower than the whole loop cost that will ultimately be permitted under the
FCC's rules. We do not believe the FCC’s revised unbundling rules will have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as
a going concern at least through December 31, 2003.
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We have in the past described our expectation of attaining cash flow sufficiency
Subsequent to our announcement of these expectations, the FCC announced the resul
yet issued its final order. The order, when issued, may impact our cash flow from oper
towards cash flow sufficiency. In particular, our ability to continue to sell stand-alone
on our ability to negotiate with the telephone companies fair and reasonable prices f
ly lower than the cost of a separate line, if we cannot reach reasonable terms with the
sell stand-alone consumer-grade services. In that event, we would be required to, and|
so that we can still reach cash flow sufficiency in the second half of 2004. However,
because of our reduced access to the consumer market.

Nonetheless, adverse business, legal, regulatory or legislative developments, such a
require us to raise additional financing, raise our prices or substantially decrease ot
may not be able to raise additional capital, especially under the current capital market
tional capital on favorable terms or are required to raise it on terms that are less sat
rial adverse effect on our financial condition which could require a sale or liquidation

Forward-Looking Statements

We include certain estimates, projections, and other forward-tooking statements in ¢
others, and in other publicly available material. Future performance cannot be ensun
those in forward-looking statements. The statements contained in this Annual Repa
looking statements” (as such term is defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act and
be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “estimates,” “prg
“believes,” or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable tern
involve risks and uncertainties. Examples of such forward-looking statements includ

the impact of the FCC’s decision in the Triennial Review and our ability to obtain a
sell consumer-grade services;

expectations regarding our ability to become cash-flow positive;
expectations regarding the extent to which customers purchase our services;
expectations regarding our relationships with our strategic partners and other po
expectations as to pricing for our services in the future;

expectations as to the impact of our service offerings on our margins;
the possibility that we will increase our revenues;

the impact of advertising on brand recognition and operating results;
plans to make strategic investments and acquisitions and the affect of such invest

estimates and expectations of future operating results, including expectations r
cash flow positive basis, the adequacy of our cash reserves, our monthly burn rat

plans to devetop and commercialize value-added services;

[

our anticipated capital expenditures;

plans to enter into business arrangements with broadband-related service provid

the effect of regulatary changes;

the effect of litigation currently pending; and

e other statements contained in this Annual Report regarding matters that are not h

These statements are only estimates or predictions and cannot be relied upon. We

will be achieved. Actual events or results may differ materially as a result of risks fac

o the effect of the FCC’s Triennial Review and its announcements that it would pha
require that the phone companies provide us with access to remote terminals;

e the impact of other regulatory developments;

e financial difficulties experienced by our customers;
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s our ability to attract and retain Internet service provider, enterprise and telecommunications carrier customers and limit end-
user churn rates;

¢ the rate at which customers subscribe to our services;

* our access to facilities of the traditional telephone companies that we need to sell our service;

e the ability to order or deploy our services on a timely basis to adequately satisfy end-user demand;

¢ our ability to successfully operate our network;

¢ reductions in the prices for our services due to competition, volume-based pricing and other factors;

¢ the success of our relationships with strategic partners and other potential third parties in generating significant subscriber demand;

* the mix of line orders between consumer end-users and business end-users (which typically have higher margins) as well as
the mix between end-users that purchase our services directly from us as opposed to purchasing from one of our resellers;

¢ the ability to develop and commercialize new services by us or our competitors;

* the amount and timing of capital expenditures and other costs relating to the expansion of our network, our network capacity
and new service offerings;

* our ability to raise additional capital as may be required in the future; and
¢ the absence of an adverse result in litigation against us.

» our ability to adapt our business plan in response to further developments resulting from the FCC’s Triennial Review announce-
ment and future order:

¢ collect receivables from customers;

* retain end-users that are served by customers facing financial difficulties;

¢ successfully market our services to customers;

¢ generate customer demand for our services;

s successfully defend our company against litigation;

¢ successfully reduce our operating costs and overhead while continuing to provide good customer service;
* successfully continue to increase the number of business-grade lines;

¢ achieve favorable pricing for our services;

* respond to increasing competition;

* manage growth of our operations; and

e access regions and negotiate suitable interconnection agreements with the traditional telephone companies, all in a timely
manner, at reasonable costs and on satisfactory terms.

All written and oral forward-looking statements made in connection with this Annual Report which are attributable to us or per-
sons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by “Part I. Item 1. Business—Risk Factors" in our Annual Report
on 10-K and other cautionary statements included in this Annual Report and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. We disclaim any
obligation to update information contained in any forward-looking statement.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to financial market risk, including changes in interest and marketable equity security prices, relates primarily to our
investment portfolio and outstanding debt obligations. We typically do not attempt to reduce or eliminate our market exposure on
our investment securities because a substantial majority of our investments are in fixed-rate, short-term securities. We do not have
any derivative instruments. The fair value of our investment portfolio or related income would not be significantly impacted by
either a 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the fixed-rate, short-term nature of the substantial
majority of our investment portfolio. in addition, all of our outstanding indebtedness as of December 31, 2002 is fixed-rate debt.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Covad Communications Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consalidated balance sheets of Covad Communications Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2002
and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based jon our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial posi-
tion of Covad Communications Group, Inc. at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the ¢ nsolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, In con rmity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2000 the Company changed its method of accounting for
revenue recognition and related incremental direct costs in accordance with guidance contained in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”.

Chuat ¢ ;(fm?, UP
Ernst & Young LLP

Walnut Creek, California
March 5, 2003
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Restricted cash and investments

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $5,388 at December 31, 2002
($8,483 at December 31, 2001)

Unbilled revenues

Other receivables

inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Collocation fees, net of accumulated amortization of $32,372 at December 31, 2002
($17,716 at December 31,2001)

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates

Deferred costs of service activation

Deferred customer incentives

Other long-term assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Liabilities And Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Current portion of capital lease obligations
Accrued collocation and network service fees
Accrued transaction-based taxes
Accrued interest
Accrued market development funds and customer incentives
Unresolved claims related to bankruptcy proceedings
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Collateralized customer deposit
Deferred gain resuiting from deconsolidation of subsidiary
Unearned revenues
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized;
no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 590,000,000 shares authorized;
223,182,511 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002
(216,542,212 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001)
Common stock — Class B, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized;
no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred stock-based compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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December 31,
2002 2001
96,491 207,810
108,076 76,053
501 9,203
21,746 23,245
3,921 4,964
1,385 3,885
5,096 7,249
5,524 6,689
242,740 339,098
108,737 215,804
43,284 53,464
1,026 4,874
40,286 57,962
3,540 -
2,548 3,966
442,161 675,168
10,915 15,842
12,774 16,268
165 11
16,537 31,454
45,426 40,648
5,683 183
6,422 1733
7,381 22,200
8,581 8,103
113,884 136,442
50,000 50,000
68,191 75,000
53,972 55,200
73,815 98,697
359,862 415,339
223 216
1,612,319 1,606,737
(160) (257)
(747) (2,359)
(1,529,336) (1,344,508)
82,299 259,829
442,161 675,168




Consolidated Statements Of Operations

{AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS})

Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

83,496 $ 332,596 158,736

Revenues, net $
Operating expenses:

W

Network and product costs 258,336 461,875 432,153
Sales, marketing, general and administrative 150,373 199,908 292,991
Provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries) 319 (658) 11,257
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 112,438 137,920 91,205
Amortization of intangible assets 14,650 12,919 87,220
Provision for restructuring expenses - 14,364 4,988
Provision for long-lived asset impairment — 11,988 589,388
Litigation-related expenses, net 11,628) 31,160 -
Write-off of in-process research and developments costs — — 3,726
Total operating expenses 564,488 869,476 1,512,928
Loss from operations (180,992) (536,880) (1,354,192}
Other income (expense):
Interest income 5,122 24,593 52,901
Realized gain (loss) on short-term investments (17) 5,909 13,466
Other than temporary losses on short-term investments - (1,311) (11,579)
Provision for impairment of investments in unconsolidated affiliates (388) (10,069) (17,826)
Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates (806) (13,769) (6,452)
Gain (loss) on disposal of investments in unconsolidated affiliate (636) 178 —
Interest expense (contractual interest expense was $142,356
during the year ended December 31, 2001) (5,581) (92,782) (109,863)
Miscellaneous expense, net (1,530) (2,218) (342)
Reorganization expenses, net — (62,620) —
Other income (expense), net (3,836) (152,089) 79,695)
Loss before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle (184,828) (688,969) (1,433,887)
Extraordinary item-gain on extinguishment of debt — 1,033,727 -
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle - - (9,249)
NET INCOME (LOSS) (184,828) 344,758 (1,443,136)
Basic and diluted per share amounts:
Loss before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle (0.84) (3.89) (9.41)
Extraordinary item — 5.83 -
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — (0.06)
net income (loss) (0.84) 1.94 (9.47)
Weighted average common shares used in computing basic
and diluted per share amounts 219,743,662 177,347,193 152,358,589
Pro forma amounts assuming the accounting change
is applied retroactively:
NET INCOME (LOSS) (184,828) 344,758 (1,433,887)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share (0.84) 1.94 (9.41)
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AMOUNTS)

Balances at December 31, 1999

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

Issuance of common stock for acquisitions of businesses

Repurchase of commaon stock

Recognition of warrants

Assumption of notes receivable from stockholders in connection
with business acquisitions

Deferred stock-based compensation

Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities

Foreign currency translation

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 2000

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

Repurchase of common stock

Issuance of common stock upon emergence from Chapter 11

bankruptcy

Deconsolidation of subsidiary

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock for business acquisition

Reversal of deferred stock-based compensation

Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities

Foreign currency translation

Net income

Balances at December 31, 2001

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

Issuance of common stock following emergence from Chapter 11

bankruptcy

Issuance of warrants

Stock-based compensation

Deferred stock-based compensation

Amortization (reversal) of deferred stock-based compensation

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities

Foreign currency translation

Net loss

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2002
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Notes Accumulated Total

Common Stock Additifmal Deferred Receivable OtI}er Stockholdefs’
Paid-In Stock-Based from Comprehensive Accumulated Equity

Shares Amount Capital Compensation Stockholders Incame (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
138,710,493 $ 139 $ 851,538 $ (6,513) - 91,257 $ (246,130) $ 690,291
18,101,646 18 155,385 - — — - 155,403
5,461,935 5 12,080 - — — - 12,085
11,097,753 1 480,645 {407) - - - 480,249
(1,434,375) ® - - - - &Y
- - 9,089 - - - - 9,089

- - - - (423) - - (423)

- - 628 (628) - - - -

- - - 4!481 - - - 4:481

- - - - - (88,985) - (88,985)

- — - - - (1,716) — (1,716)

- - - - - - (1,443,136) (1,443,136)
171,937,452 172 1,509,365 (3,067) (423) 556 (1,689,266) (182,663)
1,010,000 1 579 - - - - 580
4,100,979 4 2,109 - — - — 2,113
(67,500) - (172) - - - - (172)
37,292,800 37 93,568 - - - - 93,605
- - - - 423 - - 423

- - 439 - - - - 439
2,268,481 2 2,062 - - - - 2,064
— - (1,213) 1,213 — — — —

- - - 1,597 - - - 1,597

- -~ — - - (2,327) - (2,327)

- - - - - (588) - (588)

- - - - - - 344,758 344,758
216,542,212 216 1,606,737 (257) - {2,359 (1,344,508) 259,829
5,417,251 6 4,303 - - - - 4,309
1,005,937 1 398 - - - - 399
217,111 - 261 - - - - 261

- - 3,790 - - - - 3,790

— - 285 — - - - 285

- - 290 (290) - - ~ -

- - (3,745) 387 - - - (3,358)

— - — — - 270 - 270

— - - - - 1,342 - 1,342

— — - — - — (184,828) (184,828)
223,182,511 223 1,612,319 (160) — (747) (1,529,336) 82,299
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ (184,828) s 344,758 3 (1,443,136)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)

to net cash used in operating activities:

Provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries) : 319 (658) 11,257
Depreciation and amortization 127,088 150,839 178,425
Loss on disposition of property and equipment 1,712 2,679 524
Non-cash reorganization expenses — 42,856 -
Non-cash litigation-related expenses (11,628) 25,801 -
Provision for long-lived asset impairment - 11,988 589,388
Write-off of in-process research and development costs - - 3,726
Amortization (reversal) of deferred stock-based

compensation, net (3,358) 1,597 4,481
Other stock-based compensation 285 439 9,089
Other non-cash charges 803 - -
Accretion of interest on investments (209) (7,136) (25,093)
Accretion of debt discount and amortization of deferred

debt issuance costs - 20,845 27,826
Other than temporary losses on short-term investments - 1,311 11,579
Provision for impairment of investments

in unconsolidated affiliates 388 10,069 17,826
Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates 806 13,769 6,452
(Gain) loss on disposal of investment in

unconsolidated affiliates 636 (178) -
Extraordinary item - (1,033,727) -
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle - - 9,249
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Restricted cash 8,702 (9,103) (635)

Accounts receivable 1,180 532 (18,932)

Unbilled revenue 1,043 2,282 (1,827)

Inventories 2,153 6,748 {(5,662)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,159 3,163 3,534

Deferred costs of service activation 17,676 (5,131) (52,831)

Accounts payable (4,927) (53,652) 41,047

Unresolved claims related to bankruptcy proceedings (2,930) 22,200 -

Collateralized customer deposit (6,809) - -

Accrued restructuring expenses - 2,024 4,988

Other current liabilities (1,346) (22,291) 51,773

Unearned revenues (24,882) 12,777 80,459

Net cash used in operating activities (73,967) (455,199} (496,493)
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Year ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Investing Activities:
Cash acquired through business acquisitions — — 4,330
Cash relinquished as a result of deconsolidating a subsidiary — (1,599) —
Purchase of short-term investments (237,088) (638,096) (613,307)
Maturities of short-term investments 165,526 547,477 679,615
Sale of short-term investments %0,017 329,458 92,917
Redemption of restricted investments -_ 26,875 26,875
Purchase of restricted investments in connection

with bankruptcy proceedings — (257,202) -
Redemption of restricted investments in connection

with bankruptcy proceedings - 270,608 -
Purchase of property and equipment (2,782} (15,732) (319,234)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 13,451 1,280 -
Recovery of internal-use software costs 814 2,000 21,500
Payment of collocation fees (3,782) (7,940) (25,038)
Acquisition of equity investments in unconsolidated affiliates — - (51,341)
Proceeds from sale of investments in unconsolidated affiliates 3,360 1,225 -
Decrease (increase) in other long-term assets 371 (206) (2,053)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 40,113) 258,238 (185,736)
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from collateralized customer deposit - 75,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt - 50,000 897,619
Principal payments of long-term debt in connection

with bankruptcy proceedings - (271,708) —
Other principal payments of long-term debt - (8,393) (5,457)
Principal payments under capital lease obligations (328) (1,089) (2,347)
Proceeds from common stock issuance, net of repurchase 3,089 2,521 167,487
Principal payments on short-term borrowings — — (32,900)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 2,761 (153,669) 1,024,402
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash and cash equivalents — — 229
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 111,319) (350,630) 342,402
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 207,810 558,440 216,038
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 96,491 207,810 558,440
Supplemental Disciosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the year for interest, net of amounts

capitalized (none in 2002 and 2001, $2,490 in 2000) 80 68,051 77,816
Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing

and Financing Activities:

Equipment purchased through capital leases 482 - 955
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization, Business and Basis of Presentation

ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS Covad Communications Group, Inc. (“Covad”) is a provider of high-speed connectivity services.
These services include a range of high-speed, high-capacity Internet and network access services utilizing digital subscriber line
(“DSL”) technology and related value-added services. Covad’s high-speed connectivity services are sold to businesses and con-
sumers directly and indirectly through Internet service providers (“ISPs™), enterprises, telecommunications carriers and other cus-
tomers. These services are sold directly to business and consumer end-users through Covad’s field sales force, telephone sales,
third party referrals and Covad’s web site. ISPs purchase Covad’s services in order to provide high-speed Internet access to their
business and consumer end-users. Branded virtual service providers purchase turnkey broadband or dial-up services from Covad
and sell these services to their existing customers or affiliate groups. Enterprise customers purchase services directly or indirect-
ly from Covad to provide their employees with high-speed remote access to the enterprise’s local area network. Other telecom-
munications carriers purchase Covad’s services for resale to their ISP affiliates, Internet users and enterprise customers.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Covad and its wholly owned subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Company”), except for the accounts of BlueStar Communications Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“BlueStar”), which have been excluded from the Company’s consolidated financial statements effective June 25, 2001 (Note 3). All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company’s 2003 business plan includes certain discretionary spending that is based on several assumptions, including
growth of the Company’s subscriber base with a reasonable per subscriber profit margin and improvements in praductivity. if nec-
essary, the Company will curtail this discretionary spending so that it can continue as a going concern at least through December
31, 2003 using only the Company’s unrestricted cash, cash equivalent and short-term investment balances in existence as of
December 31, 2002. Additionally, on February 20, 2003, the Federal Communications Commission (*FCC”} announced the results
of the Triennial Review of its rules for network unbundling obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers (Note 15). Among
other things, the FCC announced that it will phase-out its rule requiring line-sharing over a three-year period. While the FCC has
not yet issued its order pursuant to the Triennial Review, the ultimate impact of the FCC’s February 20, 2003 announcement on the
Company’s business, which relies on line-sharing to serve certain consumer end-users, will depend on the Company’s ability to
negotiate fair and reasonable prices substantially lower than the whole loop cost that will ultimately be permitted under the FCCs
rules. Management does not believe the FCC’s revised unbundling rules will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s abil-
ity to continue as a going concern at least through December 31, 2003.

As part of management’s continuing evaluation of the Company’s network assets during the year ended December 31, 2002, cer-
tain matters were identified related to prior financial reporting periods that necessitated the recording of adjustments to certain
expenses. Such matters were related principally to (i) changes in the Company’s network configuration, which necessitated reduc-
tions of the remaining estimated useful lives of certain network equipment, (ii) the capitalization of certain network and product
costs that should have been charged to operating expenses when they were incurred and (jii) various restructuring activities that
resulted in the abandonment of certain network equipment and leasehold improvements. Accordingly, for the year ended
December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded additional (i) depreciation expense of $6,989 ($1,306 of which was recorded dur-
ing the fourth quarter of 2002), (i) network and product costs of $2,635 ($1,930 of which was recorded during the fourth quarter
of 2002), (iii) loss on the disposition of property and equipment of $635 (all of which was recorded during the fourth quarter of
2002), and (iv) interest expense of $51 (all of which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002). In addition, as part of the
Company’s financial statement close process for the year ended December 31, 2002, management discovered that the Company
had overstated its amortization expense relating to non-cash deferred stock-based compensation in prior periods by $3,213.
Therefore, for the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded reductions of (i) network and products costs of $320 (all
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of which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002) and (ji) sales, marketing, gen
(alt of which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002). Furthermore, as part of
2002 tax accruals, it determined that it had overstated its transaction-based tax and ot
which the Company adjusted during the year ended December 31, 2002 (all of which

2002). The adjustment was primarily driven by various complex rules surrounding the

Universal Service Fund. The Company does not believe any of the aforementioned am
they should have been recorded, nor does it believe the prospective correction of such
31, 2002 is material to its consolidated operating results for such year (the prospective
relating to prior periods increased the Company’s 2002 consolidated net loss by $2,29
financial reporting periods would have been as follows if these amounts had been reco
ods: () net income for the year ended December 31, 2001 would have been decreased b

eral and administrative expense of $2,893
the Company’s review of its December 31,
her tax accruals in prior periods by $4,804,
was recorded during the fourth quarter of
ompany’s estimated liability to the Federal
ounts are material to the periods in which
amounts during the year ended December
correction of the aforementioned amounts
4, or $0.01 per share}. The impact on prior
rded in the correct financial reporting peri-
y $3,433 ($0.02 per share) and (ii) net loss

for the year ended December 31, 2000 would have been decreased by $1,139 ($0.01 per share).

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

USE OF ESTIMATES The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accou
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and exj

nting principles generally accepted in the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities
benses during the reporting period. Actual

results may differ materially from those estimates. The Company’s critical accounting estimates include (i) revenue recognition

and the establishment of accounts receivable allowances (Notes 1 and 2), (ii) inventory
restructuring liabilities (Notes 3 and 4), (iv) useful life assignments and impairment
equipment and intangible assets (Notes 1 and 5), (v) anticipated outcomes of legal p
and 10), (vi) transaction-based tax liabilities (Note 10) and (vii) valuation allowances as

CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS The Company considers all hi
three months or less from the date of original issuance to be cash equivalents. As of [
lents consisted principally of money market mutual funds. All of the Company’s investm
stated at their fair market values, which are determined based on quoted market pric
had original maturities greater than three months, but less than one year, from the balz
the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates §
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included as a sep
Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are determined based on the
rities sold.

Short-term investments consisted of the following:

valuation (Note 1), (iii) reorganization and
evaluations associated with property and
oceedings and other disputes (Notes 3, 4
ociated with deferred tax assets (Note 12).

ghly liquid investments with a maturity of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, cash equiva-
ents are classified as available-for-sale and
es. The Company’s short-term investments
ance sheet dates. Management determines
uch designation at the end of each period.
arate component of stockholders’ equity.
2 specific identification of the cost of secu-

December 31, 2002

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government agency securities $ 107,867 $ 209 $ - % 108,076
Totat available-for-sale securities 107,867 209 — 108,076

December 31, 2001

Gross Gross

Amortized Unfrealized Unreatized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government agency securities $ 30,619 § 18 (23) s 29,997
Certificates of deposit 46,089 - (33) 46,056
Total available-for-sale securities 76,108 1 (56) 76,053

Realized gains and losses resulting from the sale of available-for-sale securities were gs follows:
Year ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Gains $ - 3 6,373 $ 13,466
Losses (17) (464) —
(17) 5,909 13,466
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RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company held $501 and $9,203, respectively, in
money market mutual funds principally for the payment of unresolved bankruptcy claims (Note 2).

OTHER INVESTMENTS Other investments consist primarily of strategic investments in publicly held and private entities. Investments
representing equity interests of less than 20% in publicly held companies are accounted for as available-for-sale securities at fair
value as measured by quoted market prices. Investments in privately held companies are accounted for under either the cost or equi-
ty methods of accounting, depending on the Company’s ability to significantly influence these entities,

The Company performs periodic reviews of its investments for impairment. Impairment write-downs create a new carrying value
for both publicly and privately held investments and the Company does not record subseguent increases in fair value in excess of
the new carrying value for privately held investments accounted for under the cost or equity methods. The Company recorded
write-downs of $388, $10,069 and $17,826 during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, related to
impairments of its privately held investments.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK, SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS, KEY SUPPLIERS AND RELATED PARTIES Financial instruments
that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments and restricted investments. The Company’s cash and investment policies limit cash equivalents, short-term invest-
ments and restricted investments to short-term, investment grade instruments. Cash and cash equivalents, short-term invest-
ments and restricted cash and investments are held with various domestic and Canadian financial institutions with high credit
standing. The Company has not experienced any significant losses on its cash, cash equivalents or restricted investments.
However, during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company recognized other than temporary losses on certain
available-for-sale securities aggregating $1,311 and $11,579, respectively (none during the year ended December 31, 2002).

The Company conducts business primarily with ISP, enterprise and telecommunications carrier customers in the United States. As
more fully described in Note 2, the Company has concentrations of credit risk with a small number of customers, and certain of
the Company’s customers were experiencing financial difficulties as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and were not current in their
payments for the Company’s services at those dates. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial
condition and generally does not require collateral. An allowance is maintained for estimated credit losses. During the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company wrote-off certain accounts receivable balances aggregating $2,652, $10,371and
$175, respectively, against the allowance for credit losses. During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company
recovered $684 and $2,037, respectively, of accounts receivable balances previously written-off against such allowance. There
were no similar recoveries of accounts receivable balances for the year ended December 31, 2000.

The Campany’s former vice-chairman and interim chief executive officer, who was also a member of the Company’s board of direc-
tors from October 1997 to December 2002, is a minority stockholder and former member of the board of directors of one of the
Company’s former ISP customers, InternetConnect, which filed for bankruptcy protection in 2001 (Note 6). The Company recog-
nized revenues of $5,601 and $7,189 related to this customer during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively
(none during the year ended December 31, 2002). The Company also purchased certain products fram a company in which its for-
mer vice-chairman and interim chief executive officer serves as a director. Purchases from this vendor totaled $258 and $140 in
2002 and 2001, respectively. Purchases were not made from this vendor in 2000.

The Company is dependent on a limited number of suppliers for certain equipment used to provide its services. The Company has
generally been able to obtain an adequate supply of such equipment. However, an extended interruption in the supply of equip-
ment currently obtained from its suppliers could adversely affect the Company’s business and results of operations.

The Company acquired an equity interest in a supplier during 1999 and disposed of this interest in 2001. Purchases from this sup-
plier totaled $5,774, $13,928 and $53,156 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

A member of the Company’s Board of Directors is the President of one of the Company’s wholesale customers. The Company rec-
ognized revenues from this customer of $1,311, $1,822 and $1,317 during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, gross accounts receivable from this customer were $68 and $226, respectively.

INVENTORIES Inventories, consisting primarily of customer premises equipment, are stated at the lower of cost, determined using
the “first-in, first-out” method, or market.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Property and equipment are recorded at cost, subject to

ated or amortized using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful |

Building
Leasehold improvements

Computer equipment

Computer software

Furniture and fixtures

Networks and communication equipment

adjustments for impairment, and depreci-
ves:

10 years

5 years or the term of the
lease, whichever is less
2 %o 5 years

3 to 5 years

2 to 5 years

2to 5 years

The Company incurs significant costs associated with internal use saftware, which consists principally of the Company’s opera-

tional support systems ("0SS") software and web site. The Company charges the

costs of research to expense as they are

incurred, including pre-development efforts related to determining technological or product alternatives, and costs incurred for

training and maintenance. Software and web site development costs, which include dir

capitalized when it is probable that the project will be completed and the software o

ect costs such as labor and contractors, are
r web site will be used as intended. Costs

incurred for upgrades and enhancements to the Company’s software or web site are capitalized when it is probable that such

efforts will result in additional and significant functionality. Capitalized software and w
the estimated useful life of the software or web site. Amortization of internal use soft

eb site costs are amortized to expense over
ware costs was $5,814, $9,207 and $6,394

during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Company accounts for incidental sales of licenses to

its 0SS software on a cost recovery basis (Note 6).

The Company leases certain equipment under capital lease agreements. Assets and |
at the lesser of the present value of the aggregate future minimum lease payments, inc

abilities under capital leases are recorded
uding estimated bargain purchase options,

or the fair value of the assets under lease. Assets under capital leases are amortized over the lesser of the lease term or useful life

of the assets. Amortization of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation g

coLLaocaTioN FEES Collocation fees represent nonrecurring fees paid to other teleco
central office space to house equipment owned or leased by the Company. Such non
assets and amortized over five years using the straight-line method. The Company’s c¢
recurring payments, which are charged to expense as incurred. All such collocation ag
any time.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company’s estimated annual amortization expenses as
five years were as follows:

nd amortization expense.

mmunications carriers for the right to use
recurring fees are capitalized as intangible
llocation agreements also require periodic
eements are cancelable by the Company at

sociated with collocation fees for the next

2003 $ 11,828
2004 11,828
2005 11,828
2006 7,343
2007 457

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE In addition to the changes in accounting estimate described above under “Basis of

nated useful lives of all long-lived assets,
Il lives in excess of five years such that the
er five years using the straight-line method.
ary item by $14,006 ($.08 per share) and
001.

Presentation,” effective January 1, 2001, the Company reduced the remaining estin
excluding building and leasehold improvements, that previously had estimated usefi
residual balances and any subsequent additions are now depreciated or amortized ov
This change in accounting estimate increased the Company’s loss before extraordin
decreased net income by $14,006 ($.08 per share) for the year ended December 31, 2

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS The Company periodically evaluates potential [mpairments of its long-lived assets, includ-
ing intangibles. When the Company determines that the carrying value of long-lived |assets may not be recoverable based upon
the existence of one or more indicators of impairment, the Company evaluates the projected undiscounted cash flows related to
the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying value of the assets, the Company measures the impairment using dis-

counted cash flows or other methods of determining fair value.

Long-lived assets to be disposed of are carried at the lower of cost or fair value less gstimated costs of disposal.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION The Company accounts for stock-based awards to (i) employees using the intrinsic value method
and (ii) non-employees using the fair value method.

Under the intrinsic value method, when the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options equals the market price of the
underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized. The following table illustrates the pro forma effect
on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2002, 200t and 2000 had the Company
applied the fair value method to account for stock-based awards to employees:

2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss), as reported $ (184,828) % 344,758 $  (1.443,136)
Stock-based employee compensation expense (reversal)

included in the determination of net income (loss), as reported (3,112) 1,849 4,481
Stock-based employee compensation expense that would

have been included in the determination of net income (loss)

if the fair value method had been applied to all awards (28,001) (13,051) (206,900)
PRO FORMA NET INCOME (LOSS) (215,941) 333,556 (1,645,555)
Basic and diluted net income {loss) per common share:
As reported (0.84) 1.94 (9.41)
Pro forma (0.98) 1.88 (10.80)

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock-based awards to employees was $1.50, $1.45 and $29.02 per share during the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Such weighted-average grant fair values were estimated using the
Black-Scholes option valuation model and the assumptions listed in Note 13 under the caption “Pro Forma Stock-Based
Compensation Information.”

ADVERTISING c0sTs The Company charges the costs of advertising to expense as incurred. Advertising expense for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $27,083, $16,467 and $45,511, respectively.

The Company makes market development funds (“MDF”) available to certain customers for the reimbursement of co-branded
advertising expenses and other purposes. To the extent that MDF is used by the Company’s customers for co-branded advertising,
and (i) the customers provide the Company with third-party evidence of such co-branded advertising as required by Company pol-
icy and (i) the Company can reasonably estimate the fair value of its portion of the advertising, such amounts are charged to
advertising expense as incurred. Other amounts payable to customers relating to rebates, customer incentives and nonqualified
MDF activities are recorded as reductions of revenues as incurred.

INCOME TAXES The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and lia-
bilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of the
Company’s financial instruments:

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS AND RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS The carrying amounts of these assets
approximate their respective fair values, which were determined based on quoted market prices.

BORROWINGS. The fair values of borrowings, including long-term debt and capital lease obligations, are estimated based on quot-
ed market prices, where available, or by discounting the future cash flows using estimated borrowing rates at which similar types
of borrowing arrangements with the same remaining maturities could be obtained by the Company. The aggregate fair value of the
Company’s long-term debt and capital lease obligations was $59,140 as of December 31, 2002, as compared to the aggregate car-
rying amount of $50,147 as of such date. The aggregate fair value of the Company’s long-term debt and capital lease obligations
was $50,011 as of Dacember 31, 2001, as compared to the aggregate carrying amount of $50,011 as of such date.

FOREIGN CURRENCY The functional currency of the Company’s unconsolidated affiliates is the local currency. The investments in
these unconsolidated affiliates are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates, and the Company’s equity in the income
or losses of these affiliates is translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the year. Translation adjustments are includ-
ed in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss,” a separate component of stockholders’ equity.
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PER SHARE AMOUNTS Basic per share amounts are computed by using the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s

common stock, less the weighted average number of common shares subject to repur

Diluted per share amounts are determined in the same manner as basic per share am

hase, outstanding during the period.

ounts, except that the number of weighted

average common shares used in the computations includes dilutive common shares subject to repurchase and is increased

assuming the (i) exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants using the treasury s
convertible debt instruments. However, diluted net income (loss) per share is the sa

tock method and (i) conversion of dilutive
me as basic net income (loss) per share in

the periods presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations because loss from operations is the “control

number” in determining whether potential common shares are included in the calcula
ing common shares subject to repurchase, (i) the assumed exercise of outstandin
assumed conversion of convertible senior notes was not dilutive to loss from operati

jon. Consequently, the impact of (i) includ-
z stock options and warrants and (iii) the
ons.

The following table presents the calculation of weighted average common shares used in the computations of basic and dituted

per share amounts presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operat|

ons:

Year ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Weighted average shares of common
stock outstanding 219,750,287 177,489,090 155,944,344
Less weighted average shares of common
stock subject to repurchase 6,625 141,897 3,585,755
Weighted average common shares used
in computing basic per share amounts 219,743,662 177,347,193 152,358,589
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) Significant components of the Company’s comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:
Cumulative Year ended December 31,
Amounts 2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss) $  (1,529,336) $ 184,828) $ 344,758 $  (1,443,136)
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-
for-sale securities 215 270 (2,327) (88,985)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (962) 1,342 (588) (1,716)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (1,530,083) 183,216) 341,843 (1,533,837)

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS In December 2002, the Financial Accounting
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) number (“No.”) 148, “Accounting for St
Disclosure.” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compe
transition for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value method of accountin
In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123 to requi
entity’s accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee compensation on rep
amounts, in annual‘nd interim financial statements. The disclosure provisions of SF
issuance in 2002. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has no immediate plans t¢
for stock-based employee compensation.

In November 2002, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a final co
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” which is effective for revenue

beginning after June 15, 2003. Under EITF Issue No. 00-21, revenue arrangements w
divided into separate units of accounting under certain circumstances. The Company
on July 1, 2003, and it does not believe the adoption of EITF {ssue No. 00-21 will have
cial statements.

in November 2002, the FASB issued interpretation (“FIN”) No. 45, “Guarantor’s A
Guarantees, including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN No. 45 re
fair value, which is different from current practice, which is generally to record a lia
sonably estimable. FIN No. 45 also requires a guarantor to make significant new disc
any payments under the guarantee is remote. The disclosure provisions of FIN No.
Company is required to adopt the recognition and measurement provisions of FIN N
guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company does not belie
urement provisions of FIN No. 45 will have a material effect on its consolidated finan
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In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with an Exit or Disposai Activity.” SFAS No. 146 revis-
es the accounting for exit and disposal activities under EITF Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” by extending the
period in which expenses related to restructuring activities are reported. A commitment to a pian to exit an activity or dispose of
long-lived assets will no longer be sufficient to record a one-time charge for most restructuring activities. Instead, companies will
record exit or disposal costs when they are incurred and can be measured at fair value. In addition, the resultant liabilities will be
subsequently adjusted for changes in estimated cash flows. SFAS No. 146 is effective prospectively for exit or disposal activities
initiated after December 31, 2002. Companies may not restate previously issued financial statements for the effect of the provi-
sions of SFAS No. 146, and liabilities that a company previously recorded under EITF Issue No. 94-3 are grandfathered. The
Company will adopt SFAS No. 146 on january 1, 2003, and it does not believe the adoption of SFAS No. 146 will have a material
effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,”
which required all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt to be aggregated and, if material, classified as an extraordinary
item, net of related income tax effect. SFAS No. 145, which is effective in periods beginning after May 15, 2002, requires that gains
or losses from extinguishment of debt be classified as extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria of APB Qpinion No. 30. The
Company is required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 145 on January 1, 2003, and it does not believe the adoption of SFAS No.
145 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

On january 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which
supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” and
provides a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 had no effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangibles Assets.” SFAS No. 141 eliminates the pooling-of-interests method of accounting for business combinations, except for
qualifying business combinations that were initiated prior to july 1, 2001. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and indefinite-lived intan-
gible assets are no longer amortized, but are reviewed annually for impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators arise.
The adoption of SFAS Nos. 141 and 142 had no effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the provision in EITF Issue No. o1-9, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor
to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products),” dealing with consideration from a vendor to a reseller under coop-
erative advertising and. other arrangements. This provision of EITF Issue No. 01-9 states that consideration from a vendor to a
reseller of the vendor’s products or services is presumed to be a reduction of the selling price of the vendor’s products or servic-
es, unless the vendor (i} receives an identifiable benefit in return for the consideration and (ii) can reasonably estimate the fair
value of the benefit received. If the amount of consideration paid by the vendor exceeds the estimated fair value of the benefit
received, the excess amount is to be recorded by the vendor as a reduction of revenues. The adoption of this new guidance did not
have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair
value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of
fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset.
The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 143 on january 1, 2003, and it do not believe the adoption of SFAS No. 143 will have a
material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

On january 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended. SFAS No. 133 standardizes the accounting for derivatives and hedging activities and requires that all derivatives be rec-
ognized in the statement of financial position as either assets or liabilities at fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
that do not meet the hedge accounting criteria are required to be reported in operations. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 had no
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

RECLASSIFICATIONS Certain balances in the Company’s 2001 and 2000 consolidated financial statements, including certain oper-
ating expenses, have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in 2002.
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2. Revenue Recognition and Change in Accounting Principle

Revenues from recurring service are recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement between the Company and the
customer exists, (i) service has been provided to the customer, (iii) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable and (iv) cot-
lectibility of the sales prices is reasonably assured. Revenues earned for which the customer has not been billed are recorded as
“Unbilled revenues” in the consolidated balance sheets. Amounts billed in advance of{providing service are deferred and record-
ed as an element of the consolidated balance sheet caption “Unearned revenues.” Included in revenues are Federal Universal
Service Fund (“FUSF”) charges billed to customers aggregating $9,229, $13,277, and $10,647 for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company had over 150 wholesale customers as of December 31, 2002. However, for the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001, the Company’s 30 largest wholesale customers collectively comprised 93.3% and 88.5% of the Company’s total wholesale
net revenues, respectively, and 79.5% and 76.0% of the Company’s total net revenues, respectively. As of December 31, 2002 and
2001, receivables from these customers collectively comprised 75.3% and 79.9%, respectively, of the Company’s gross accounts
receivable balance.

For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, EarthLink, Inc., one of the Compiany’s wholesale customers, accounted for
20.0% and 17.5%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenues. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, receivables from this cus-
tomer comprised 25.9% and 26.0%, respectively, of the Company’s gross accounts receivable balance. No other individual cus-
tomer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total net revenues in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Some of the Company’s ISP and telecommunications carrier customers are experiencing financial difficulties. During the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, certain of these customers either (i) were not current in their payments for the
Company’s services or (i) were essentially current in their payments but, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the finan-
cial condition of such customers deteriorated significantly and certain of them have filed for bankruptcy protection. Based on this
information, the Company determined that (i) the collectibility of revenues from these customers was not reasonably assured or
(ii) its ability to retain some or all of the payments received from certain of these customers that have filed for bankruptcy pro-
tection was not reasonably assured. Accordingly, the Company classified this group of customers as “financially distressed” for
revenue recognition purposes. Revenues from financially distressed customers that have not filed for bankruptcy protection are
recognized when cash for those services is collected, assuming all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met, but only
after the collection of ali previous outstanding accounts receivable balances. Payments received from financially distressed cus-
tomers during a defined period prior to their filing of petitions for bankruptcy protection are recorded in the consolidated balance
sheet caption “Unearned revenues” if the Company’s ability to retain these payments is not reasonably assured.

A number of the Company’s customers are currently in bankruptcy proceedings. Revenues from these customers accounted for
approximately 5.6%, 7.1% and 8.3% of the Company’s total net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Although WorldCom, inc. (*WorldCom”) filed for bankruptcy protection ?n July 21, 2002, the Company continued to
recognize revenues from WorldCom on an accrual basis during 2002 based on its schific facts and circumstances in relation to
the revenue recognition criteria described above. Consequently, the disclosures in the following paragraph related to financially
distressed customers exclude amounts pertaining to WorldCom because the Compahy has not presently classified it as a finan-
cially distressed customer for revenue recognition purposes. The Company continues|to attempt to migrate end-users from some
of its financially distressed customers to the extent it is legally and operationally feasible.

During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company issued billings to its financially distressed customers
aggregating $42,881, $74,928 and $45,278, respectively, that were not recognized as revenues or accounts receivable in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. However, the Company ultimately recognized revenues from certain of these
customers when cash was collected (as described above) aggregating $47,609, $29,003 and $2,814 during the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, some of which relates to services provided in prior periods. In addition, revenues
and the provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries) recognized during the year ended December 31, 2002 include payments
totaling $4,427 and $2,809, respectively, from certain bankrupt customers that the Company received prior to January 1, 2002 and
recorded as unearned revenues in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001 because the Company’s
ability to retain these payments was not reasonably assured as of that date. However, as a result of subsequent developments in
the bankruptcy proceedings of such customers, the Company determined that its ability to retain these payments was reasonably
assured prior to December 31, 2002, Consequently, the Company recognized these payments as revenues and bad debt recover-
ies, respectively, during 2002. No such payments were recognized as revenues or bad debt recoveries during the years ended
December 31, 2001 or 2000. The Company had contractual receivables from its financjally distressed customers totaling $6,031 as
of December 31, 2002 that are not reftected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of such date.
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The Company has obtained information indicating that some of its customers, including WorldCom, who (i) were essentially cur-
rent in their payments for the Company’s services priar to December 31, 2002, or (i) have subsequently paid all or significant por-
tions of the respective amounts recorded as accounts receivable as of December 31, 2002, may become financially distressed.
Revenues from these customers accounted for approximately 34.6%, 14.2% and 13.9% of the Company's total net revenues for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. As of December 31, 2002, receivables from these customers com-
prised 31.8% of the Company’s gross accounts receivable balance. If these customers are unable to demonstrate their ability to
pay for the Company’s services in a timely manner in periods ending subsequent to December 31, 2002, revenue from such cus-
tomers will be recognized when cash is collected (as described above).

The Company has obtained persuasive evidence indicating that the financial condition of one of its customers, which was desig-
nated as financially distressed in 2000, improved significantly during the year ended December 31, 2002, principally as a result of
a capital infusion during this period. Consequently, the Company concluded that collection of its billings to this customer was now
reasonably assured. Therefore, the Company resumed the recognition of revenues from this customer on an accrual basis during
2002, which resulted in the recognition of revenues in the amount of approximately $1,542 that relate to services rendered in peri-
ods ended prior to January 1, 2002. Similarly, the Company resumed the recognition of revenue on an accrual basis for another
wholesale customer during 2002. The Company did not, however, recognize additional revenue from services rendered in prior
periods because this customer was current in its payments. No similar amounts were recognized during the other periods report-
ed in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Company has billing disputes with certain of its customers. These disputes arise in the ordinary course of business in the
telecommunications industry and their impact on the Company’s accounts receivable and revenues can be reasonably estimated
based on historical experience. Accordingly, the Company maintains an allowance, through charges to revenues based on the
Company’s estimate of the ultimate resolution of the disputes. These charges to revenues amounted to $2,322, $11,178 and
$13,838 during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, the Company wrote-off certain accounts receivable balances aggregating $3,748, $6,701 and $13,468, respec-
tively, against the allowance for customer disputes. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recovered $2,145 of
accounts receivable balances previously written-off against such allowance. There were no similar recoveries of accounts receiv-
able balances for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, retroactive to January 1, 2000, the Company changed its method of accounting for up-front fees
associated with service activation and the related incremental direct costs in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
(*SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” Previously, the Company had recognized up-front fees as rev-
enues upon activation of service. Under the new accounting method, which was adopted retroactive to January 1, 2000, the
Company now recognizes up-front fees associated with service activation over the expected term of the customer relationship,
which is presently estimated to be 24 months, using the straight-line method. Also as a result of the adoption of SAB No. 101,
retroactive to {anuary 1, 2000, the Company now treats the incremental direct costs of service activation (which consist principal-
ly of customer premises equipment, service activation fees paid to other telecommunications companies and sales commissions)
as deferred charges in amounts that are no greater than the up-front fees that are deferred, and such deferred incremental direct
costs are amortized to expense using the straight-line method over 24 months. The cumulative effect of the change in accounting
principle resulted in a charge to operations of $9,249, which is included in net loss for the year ended December 31, 2000. The
effect of the change in accounting principle on the year ended December 31, 2000 was to increase loss before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle by $51,550 ($0.33 per share). The pro forma amounts presented in the consolidated statements of
operations were calculated assuming the accounting change was made retroactively to all prior periods presented.

For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company recognized $11,661 and $18,661, respectively, in revenue that was
included in the cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2000 (none during the year ended December 31, 2002). The effect of
that revenue during 2001 and 2000 was to increase net income/decrease net loss by $3,067 and $4,624, respectively.
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3. Reorganization Under Bankruptcy Proceedings

On August 15, 2001 (the “Petition Date”), Covad, excluding its operating subsidiaries, filed a voluntary petition (the “Petition”)
under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") for the purpose of confirming its pre-negotiated
First Amended Plan of Reorganization, as modified on November 26, 2001 (thel “Plan”} with the majority holders (the
“Noteholders”) of its senior note. The Petition was filed with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware {the
“Bankruptcy Court™) and was assigned Case No. 01-10167 (JJF). On December 13, 2001, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order con-
firming the Plan and, on December 20, 2001 (the “Effective Date™), the Plan was consummated and Covad emerged from bank-
ruptcy. However, the Bankruptcy Court still maintains jurisdiction over certain administrative matters related to the implementa-
tion of the Plan, including the unresolved claims described below.

On the Effective Date, the Company made the following distributions of cash and shares of its common stock to certain claimants:

Common Stock

T Aggregate Fair Total
Claimant Cash Shares Market Value Consideration
Noteholders $ 271,708 35,292,800 § 88,585 $ 360,293
Plaintiffs in litigation (Note 10) 5,793 2,000,000 5,020 10,813
Other claimants 1,900 — - 1,900

279,401 37,292,800 93,605 373,006

The aforementioned distributions of cash and shares of the Company’s comman stogk resulted in the extinguishment of certain
liabilities of Covad as of the Effective Date and the recognition of an extraordinary gain and certain litigation-related and other gen-
eral and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31,
2001, as follows:

Extinguishment of senior notes:

Senior notes $ 1,351,488
Accrued interest 42,532
1,394,020
Less consideration distributed to the Noteholders 360,293
EXTRADRDINARY GAIN RECOGNIZED 1,033,727
Settlement of litigation (Note 10):
Consideration distributed to the plaintiffs 10,813
Less amounts accrued prior to the Effective Date 6,820
ADDITIONAL LITIGATION-RELATED EXPENSES RECOGNIZED 3.993
Other:
Consideration distributed to the claimants 1,900
Less amounts accrued prior to the Effective Date —
ADDITIONAL GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES RECOGNIZED 1,900

There were unresolved claims related to Covad’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings aggregating $8,344 and $31,608 as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company recarded these unresolved claims in its consoli-
dated balance sheets based on the amount of such claims allowed by the Bankruptcy Court (adjusted for changes in the value of
the Company’s common stock after December 20, 2001), unless the Company has persuasive evidence indicating that a claim is
duplicative with another allowed claim that was settled previously or is otherwise in error. In these cases, the unresolved claim
does not meet the criteria for recognition in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. However, it is reasonably possible
that the Company’s unresolved Chapter 11 bankruptcy claims could ultimately be settled for amounts that differ from the aggre-
gate liability for “Unresolved claims related to bankruptcy proceedings” reflected|in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had (i) placed $501 and $8,000, respectively, of cash in a reserve fund (this bal-
ance is classified as “Restricted Cash and Investments” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets) and (i) reserved
7,078,733 and 7,295,844 shares, respectively, of common stock pending the resolution of the aforementioned disputed claims.
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The holders of the Company’s common stock issued prior to the Effective Date of the Plan retained their existing equity inter-
ests, but were diluted through the issuance of common stock to the claimants described above. As of the Effective Date, and
after the issuance of 37,292,800 shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to the Plan as described above, there were
216,445,276 shares of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding. The holders of the Company’s common stock
immediately before the Effective Date of the Plan held more than 50% of the Company’s voting shares (including shares
reserved for future issuance under the Plan) immediately after the Effective Date of the Plan. Therefore, under AICPA Statement
of Position (“SOP”) 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code,” the Company did not
qualify for fresh-start reparting.

In accordance with SOP go-7, expenses resulting from the restructuring are reported separately as reorganization items. For the
year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recognized expenses directly associated with Covad’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy pro-
ceedings in the amount of $63,229 (none for the year ended December 31, 2002). These reorganization expenses consisted of (i)
non-cash adjustments to unamortized debt issuance costs and discounts and (i) professional fees for legal and financial adviso-
ry services. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recognized interest income in the amount of $609 on accumu-
lated cash that Covad did not disburse as a result of its Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings (none for the year ended December 31,
2002). Such interest income has been offset against the aforementioned reorganization expenses in the Company’s 2001 consol-
idated statement of operations.

Operating cash receipts and payments made by Covad resulting from the Plan were as follows for the period from August 15, 2001
through December 20, 2001:

Cash receipts:

Interest received $ 2,650
TOTAL CASH RECEIPTS 2,650
Cash disbursements: )
Interest paid 1,509
Professional fees paid 16,003
Claims paid 277,892
TOTAL CASH DISBURSEMENTS 295,404

4. Other Restructuring Activities

BlueStar, which was acquired by the Company on September 22, 2000 in a transaction accounted for as a purchase (Note 6), pro-
vided broadband communications and Internet services to small and medium sized businesses in smaller cities using a direct
sales model. Continued losses at BlueStar, with no near term possibility of improvement, caused the Company’s board of direc-
tors to decide, on June 22, 2001, to cease the Company’s funding of BlueStar’s operations. Subsequently, on June 25, 2001,
BlueStar terminated all of its 365 employees. However, 59 of BlueStar's former employees were temporarily retained by the
Company for varying periods through july 31, 2001 to assist with the migration of certain BlueStar end-user lines to the Company’s
network, as described below. In addition, the Company hired 69 of BlueStar’s former employees subsequent to june 25, 2001.

On June 24, 2001, the Company and BlueStar entered into a Purchase Agreement (“PA”Y under which the Company purchased the
right to offer service to BlueStar's customers, subject to BlueStar’s right to seek higher offers. The Company paid approximately
$2,000 in 2001 (none in 2002) under the PA and has no additional liabilities under the PA as of December 31, 2002. To facilitate
this migration, the Company and BlueStar entered into a Migration Agreement on July 12, 2001 that required the Company to pay
certain amounts contemplated in the PA directly to certain former employees of BlueStar and certain BlueStar vendors, including
the Assignee, as defined below. The Company made payments aggregating $5,100 in connection with BlueStar’s cessation of oper-
ations during the year ended December 31, 2001 (none during the year ended December 31, 2002). Of this amount, $1,300 repre-
sents employee severance benefits, $2,000 represents customer acquisition costs under the PA and $1,800 represents legal and
other professional fees. Such (i) severance benefits and professional fees and (ii) customer acquisition costs have been charged
to restructuring expenses and network and product costs, respectively, in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2001.

On June 25, 2001, BlueStar made an irrevocable assignment for the benefit of creditors (“ABC”) of all its assets to an independent
trustee (the “Assignee”) in the State of Tennessee. Inmediately thereafter, the Assignee began an orderly liquidation of BlueStar
that was initially expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2002. However, the Assignee has informed the Company that
it is still in the process of resolving some matters among BlueStar’s creditors and that the process may extend into the second half
of 2003. An ABC under Tennessee law is a non-judicial alternative to a plan of liquidation under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.
As a result of the ABC, BlueStar’s former assets are no longer controlled by BlueStar or the Company and cannot be used by either
BlueStar’s or the Company’s boards of directors to satisfy the liabilities of BlueStar. Consequently, the liquidation of BlueStar’s
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assets and the discharging of its liabilities are currently under the sole control of the As

gignee and the control of BlueStar’s assets

no longer rests with the Company. Therefore, the Company deconsolidated BlueStar effective june 25, 2001, which resulted in the

recognition of a deferred gain in the amount of $55,200 in the Company’s consolidate

Such deferred gain represented the difference between the carrying values of BlueStar

ties (aggregating $63,100) as of June 25, 2001. Subsequently, the deferred gain was re
assets, which inadvertently had not been deconsolidated on June 25, 2001, were identi

deconsolidated at that time. The deconsolidation of these assets was charged against t

of 2002, resulting in a deferred gain balance of $53,972 in the Company’s consolidate
The Company will recognize such deferred gain as an extraordinary item when the liqu
bilities have been discharged.

i balance sheet as of December 31, 2001.
s assets (aggregating $7,900) and liabili-
duced by $1,228 because certain BlueStar
ied during the fourth quarter of 2002 and
he deferred gain during the fourth quarter
d balance sheet as of December 31, 2002.
dation of BlueStar is complete and its lia-

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the consolidated results of operations of the Company as if the

deconsolidation of BlueStar had occurred on fanuary 1, 2000 and does not purport to be

would have occurred had the deconsolidation occurred on January 1, 2000, or the resu

Revenues

Loss before extraordinary item and cumulative effect
of accounting charge

Net income (loss)

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share

During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company announced a comprehensive restructu

o raising revenue by reducing rebates and other incentives that the Company provides

tion plans for 2001 to improve margins and reduce subscriber payback times;

closing approximately 200 under-performing or not fully built-out central offices an
work to approximately 1,700 central offices;

reducing the Company’s workforce by 638 employees, which represented approxim

closing a facility in Alpharetta, Georgia and consolidating offices in Manassas, Vir
Denver, Colorado.

continued downsizing of the Company’s international operations and discontinu
expansion while continuing to manage existing investments (Note 6);

enhancing productivity in the Company’s operations to increase customer satisfacti
restructuring the Company’s direct sales and marketing channel; and

evaluating and implem‘enting other cost reduction strategies, including salary free
advertising expenses.

[n connection with this restructuring plan, the Company recarded a charge to operatic
relating to employee severance benefits that met the requirements for accrual as of
December 31, 2001, the total workforce was reduced by 638 employees and the Compa
were charged against the restructuring liability recorded as of December 31, 2000.

The Company recorded additional restructuring expenses aggregating $14,364 during
$2,140 related to the BlueStar shutdown. These expenses consist principally of collo
that met the requirements for accrual in 2001. During the year ended December 31, 20
ing lease termination costs of $12,355, which were charged against the restructuring

year ended December 31, 2001, the restructuring liability was also reduced by $131 ba

restructuring expenses. No restructuring expenses were recorded during the year en
ment continues to consider whether additional restructuring is necessary, and the Com
ations related to any further restructuring activities in future periods.
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indicative of the results of operations that

Its that may occur in the future:

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000

s 320,619 $ 152,948
(646,647) (1,406,527)
387,080 (1,415,776}
2.18 (9.29)

ring plan that involved the following steps:

to customers and reducing new line addi-

d reducing the size of the Company’s net-

ately 21% of the Company’s workforce;

ginia (Note 5), Santa Clara, California and

ng plans to fund additional international

pn while reducing costs;

zes and reductions in travel, facilities and

ns of $4,988 in the fourth quarter of 2000
December 31, 2000. During the year ended
ny paid $3,849 in severance benefits, which

he year ended December 31, 2001, of which
tation and building lease termination costs
b1, the Company paid collocation and build-
liabilities recorded during 2001. During the
sed on revised estimates of the Company’s
ded December 31, 2002. However, manage-
npany may incur additional charges to oper-




5. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In connection with the 2000 financial statement closing process, the Company identified indicators of possible impairment of its
long-lived assets. Such indicators included deterioration in the business climate for Internet and DSL service companies, reduced
levels of venture capital and other funding activity for such businesses and changes in the Company’s strategic plans.

The Company performed asset impairment tests at the enterprise-level, the lowest leve! for which there are identifiable cash flows
that are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets. The tests were performed by comparing the expected
aggregate undiscounted cash flows to the carrying amounts of long-lived assets. Based on the results of these tests, the Company
determined that its long-lived assets were impaired.

With the assistance of independent valuation experts, the Company then determined the fair value of its long-lived assets. Fair
value was determined using the discounted cash flow method and the market comparison method. A write-down of $589,388 was
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2000, reflecting the amount by which the carrying amount of certain long-lived assets exceeded
their respective fair values. The write-down consisted of $390,641 for goodwill, $92,395 for other intangible assets and $106,352
for certain property and equipment. As described in Note 6, the Company recorded an additional write-down of goodwill in the
amount of $1,989 during 2001.

Furthermore, during the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company determined that (i) certain of its communication equipment was
obsolete based on its discontinued use in the Company’s network and (i) it would sell (subject to the approval of the Company’s
board of directors) its land, building and certain furniture and fixtures located in Manassas, Virginia. In March 2002, the Company
entered into a non-binding letter of intent with a third party to sell the aforementioned Manassas, Virginia property for $14,000.
Accordingly, the Company recognized a write-down of this property and equipment in the amount of $9,999 during the fourth
quarter of 2001. In April 2002, the Company received the necessary approval from its board of directors to proceed with the sale
of this property (at which time the Company suspended depreciation of the building and related improvements when such assets
had an aggregate carrying value of $13,201). in June 2002, the Company completed the sale of this property and recognized a gain
of $133, which represents the net proceeds of $13,334 less the aggregate carrying value of the property, as described above, in
the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002. The Company recorded no impair-
ment write-downs of long-lived assets during 2002.

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,
2002 2001
Land $ - 3 891
Building — 17,257
Leasehold improvements 9,276 8,433
Computer equipment 46,724 46,440
Computer software 30,486 34,751
Furniture and fixtures 17,785 20,337
Networks and communication equipment 334,483 332,668
438,754 460,777
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 330,017 244,973
Property and equipment, net 108,737 215,804

6. Business Acquisitions, Asset Acquisitions and Equity investments

Acquisition of Laser Link.net, Inc.

On March 20, 2000, the Company acquired Laser Link.net, Inc. (“Laser Link”) by issuing approximately 5,000,000 common shares
in exchange for all of the outstanding common shares of Laser Link. This transaction was accounted for as a purchase. Accordingly,
the Company’s consolidated financial statements include the results of operations of Laser Link for periods ending after the date
of acquisition. The common shares issued were valued for accounting purposes using the average market price of $61.52 per
share, which is based on the average closing price around the announcement date (March g, 2000) of the transaction. The out-
standing Laser Link stock options were converted into options to purchase approximately 1,400,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock at a fair value of $58.66 per share. In addition, the outstanding Laser Link warrants were converted into warrants
to purchase 15 shares of the Company’s common stock at a fair value of $61.52 per share. The value of the options and warrants,
as well as direct transaction costs, were included as elements of the total purchase cost.
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The tatal purchase cost of the Laser Link acquisition has been allocated to the assets a

mates of their fair values. The following tables depict the total purchase cost and the a

Total purchase cost:
Value of common shares issued
Value of assumed Laser Link options

Acquisition costs
Total purchase cost
Purchase price allocation:
Tangible net assets acquired
Intangible assets acquired:
Developed and core technology
Customer base
Assembled workforce
In-process research and development
Goodwill
TOTAL PURCHASE CONSIDERATION

The tangible assets of Laser Link acquired by the Company aggregating $9,078 consist

nd liabilities of Laser Link based upon esti-
location thereof:

$ 308,429
84,176
392,605
10,566

403,171

691

13,023
28,562
1,140
3,726
356,039
403,171

ed principally of cash, accounts receivable

and property and equipment. The liabilities of Laser Link assumed by the Company aggregating $8,387 consisted principally of a

note payable (which was repaid prior to December 31, 2000), accounts payable and ac

The customer base was valued using an income approach, which projects the associate
utable to the customer base over its estimated life of five years. These cash flows are

December 31, 2000, this intangible asset was being amortized on a straight-line basis

(Note 5).

The value of the assembled workforce was derived by estimating the costs to replace th

hiring and training costs for each category of employee. Through December 31, 2000,
on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of three years (Note 5).

A portion of the purchase price was allocated to developed and core technology
(*IPRD”). Developed and core technology and IPRD were identified and valued throug
vided by Laser Link concerning developmental products, their stage of development, t
them, if applicable, their expected income generating ability, target markets and assoc
which assumes that the value of an asset equals the amount a third party would pay t
ed benefits of the assets, was the primary technique utilized in valuing the developed

.

crued expenses.

d revenue, expenses and cash flows attrib-
discounted to their present vatue. Through
over its estimated usefut life of five years

e existing employees, including recruiting,
this intangible asset was being amortized

nd in-process research and development
extensive interviews, analysis of data pro-
he time and resources needed to complete
ated risks. The relief from royalty method,
0 use the asset and capitalize on the refat-
and core technology and IPRD.

Where developmental projects had reached technological feasibility, they were classifjed as developed and core technology and

the value assigned to developed technology was capitalized. Through December 31, 2
were being amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, whic
Where the developmental projects had not reached technologicat feasibility and had n
fied as IPRD. The value allocated to projects identified as IPRD was charged to expens,

The nature of the efforts required to develop the purchased IPRD into commercially viz
pletion of all planning, designing, prototyping, verification and testing activities that a
can be produced to meet their design specifications, including functions, features and

In valuing the IPRD, the Company considered, among other factors, the importance
plan, the projected incremental cash flows from the projects when completed and any
tal cash flows were discounted back to their present value using a discount rate of 30
consideration of the Company’s weighted average cost of capital and the weighted z
include the inherent difficulties and uncertainties in completing each project and there
ipated levels of market acceptance and penetration, market growth rates and risks re
future target markets.
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000, the elements of this intangible asset
h ranged from one to four years (Note 5).
o future alternative uses, they were classi-
e in 2000.

able products principally relate to the com-
re necessary to establish that the products
technical performance requirements.

f each project to the overall development
associated risks. The projected incremen-
6. This discount rate was determined after

average return on assets. Associated risks
by achieving technological feasibility, antic-

ated to the impact of potential changes in




The IPRD relates to internally developed proprietary software used in Laser Link’s virtual ISP business. This software has been
designed with enhancements and upgrades continually underway. With respect to the acquired in-process technologies, the cal-
culations of value were adjusted to reflect the value creation efforts of Laser Link prior to the closing date. The percent complete
for the in-process technology was estimated to be 75% as of March 20, 2000.

Goodwill was determined based on the residual difference between the amount paid and the values assigned to identified tangi-
ble and intangible assets and liabilities. Through December 31, 2000, this intangible asset was being amortized on a straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of five years (Note 5).

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the consolidated results of operations of the Company, exclud-
ing the charges for IPRD and long-lived asset impairment, as if the acquisition of Laser Link had occurred on January 1, 1999 and
does not purport to be indicative of the results of the operations that woutd have occurred had the acquisition been made on
January 1, 1999, or the results that may occur in the future:

Year ended December 31,

2000 1999
Revenues $ 164,176 $ 66,502
Loss before extraordinary item

and cumulative effect of accounting change (858,011 (276,177
Net loss (867,260) (276,177)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (5.65) (2.54)

Acquisition of BlueStar

On September 22, 2000, the Company acquired BlueStar by issuing approximately 6,100,000 shares of common stock (including
800,000 shares to be held in escrow for a one year period pending the Company’s verification of certain representations and war-
ranties made to it by BlueStar at the date of the acquisition) in exchange for all of the outstanding preferred and common shares
of BlueStar. Two of the Company’s stockholders and members of its board of directors when the acquisition occurred were also
stockholders of BlueStar, and one was a member of the board of directors of BlueStar.

This transaction was accounted for as a purchase. Accordingly, the Company’s consolidated financial statements include the
results of operations of BlueStar for periods ending after the date of acquisition. However, as described in Note 3, the Company
deconsolidated BlueStar effective june 25, 2001,

The common shares issued by the Company to BlueStar’s stockholders were valued for accounting purposes using the average
market price of $14.23 per share, which is based on the average closing price around the closing date of the transaction. in addi-
tion, the outstanding BlueStar stock options and warrants were converted into options to purchase approximately 225,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock at a fair value of $6.55 per share. The value of the options, as well as direct transaction costs,
have been included as elements of the total purchase cost.

Up to 5,000,000 additional common shares of the Company’s common stock were to be issued if BlueStar achieved certain spec-
ified levels of revenues and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization in 2001. However, during April, 2001,
the Company reached an agreement with the BlueStar stockholders’ representative to resolve this matter, as well as the matters
that caused 800,000 of the Company’s common shares to be held in escrow as of December 31, 2000, by providing the BlueStar
stockholders with 2,532,850 (which include 264,369 options and warrants which are held by the Company in the event such
options and warrants are exercised after the distribution date) of the 5,000,000 shares, in exchange for a release of all claims
against the Company. The 800,000 common shares held in escrow were ultimately returned to the Company under this agreement.
BlueStar’s former stockholders received the additional shares of the Company’s common stock during 2001. Consequently, the
Company recorded additional goodwill of $1,989 in 2001. However, the Company determined that such goodwill was impaired
based on BlueStar’s continued operating losses, as described in Note 3. Therefore, such goodwill balance was written-off through
a charge to the provision for long-lived asset impairment during the year ended December 31, 2001.
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The total purchase cost of the BlueStar acquisition was allocated to the assets and lia
their fair value. The following tables depict the total purchase cost and the allocation

Total purchase cost:
Value of common shares issued
Fair Value of assumed BlueStar options and warrants

Acquisition costs
TOTAL PURCHASE COST
Purchase price allocation:
Tangible net assets acquired
Intangible assets acquired:
Customer base
Assembled workforce
Deferred stock-based compensation
Collocation agreements
Goodwill

hilities of BlueStar based upon estimates of
thereof:

86,579
1,471
88,050
5,724
93,774

(55,833)

17,332
11,491
407
24,013
96,364
93,774

The tangible assets of BlueStar acquired by the Company aggregating $64,753 consisted principally of accounts receivable, pre-
paid expenses and property and equipment. The liabilities of BlueStar assumed by the Company aggregating $120,586 consisted

principally of accounts payable, accrued expenses, a short-term bridge loan (which w

equipment financing arrangements.

as retired prior to December 31, 2000) and

The customer base was valued using an income approach, which projects the associated revenue, expenses and cash flows attrib-

utable to the customer base over its estimated life. These cash flows are discounted

that reflects the appropriate level of risk. Through December 31, 2000, this intangible a

basis over its estimated useful life of three years (Note 5).

The value of the assembled workforce was derived by estimating the costs to replace t
hiring and training costs for each category of employee. Through December 31, 2000
on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of three years (Note 5).

The value of the collocation agreements was calculated using the replacement cost

fo their present value using a rate of return
’sset was being amortized on a straight-line

b

L

he existing employees, including recruiting,
this intangible asset was being amortized

approach which estimates the value of the

asset at replacement cost. Through December 31, 2000, this intangible asset was being amortized to expense over its estimated

useful life of three years (Note 5).

Deferred stock-based compensation associated with unvested BlueStar stock options
tized to expense over the remainder of the vesting period (Note 5).

at the date of acquisition was being amor-

Goodwiil was determined based on the residual difference between the amount paid and the values assigned to identified tangi-

ble and intangible assets and liabilities. Through December 31, 2000, this intangible a
basis over its estimated useful life of five years (Note 5).

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the consolidated re
ing the charge for long-lived asset impairment, as if the acquisition of BlueStar had oc
port to be indicative of the results of operations that would have occurred had the ac|
the results that may occur in the future:

Revenues
Loss before extraordinary item
and cumulative effect of accounting change
Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per share
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sset was being amortized on a straight-line

sults of operations of the Company, exclud-
turred on January 1, 1999 and does not pur-
quisition been made on January 1, 1999, or

Year ended December 31,

2000 1999

$ 164,635 $ 67,258
(924,242) (251,636)
(933,491 (251,636)

(5.95) (2.21)




Acquisition of InternetConnect Assets

On January 3, 2002, the Company purchased substantially all of the assets of InternetConnect, a related party (Note 1), in an auc-
tion supervised by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California. The purchase price for these assets
was $5,470 in cash, $235 of which had been deposited with InternetConnect’s agent prior to January 1, 2002. Under the terms of
the asset purchase agreement, the Company may be required to pay additional cash of up to $1,880, depending upon the outcome
of a previous post-petition bankruptcy claim filed against internetConnect by the Company, which is still pending before the court.
The Company did not assume any liabilities or obligations of InternetConnect or hire any of InternetCannect’s emplayees. In addi-
tion, the Company does not believe the assets acquired from InternetConnect constitute a self-sustaining, integrated set of activ-
ities and assets that would constitute a business.

The tangible assets of internetConnect purchased by the Company consisted of accounts receivable, refundable deposits and
property and equipment. The Company also purchased the right, but not the obligation, to assume InternetConnect’s customer
contracts. However, the Company did not exercise this right. Instead, the Company solicited the approximately 9,250 DSL, T-1, vir-
tual private network (“VPN”) and dial-up customers of InternetConnect, and approximately 6,200 of such customers executed new
contracts with the Company or its resellers subsequent to January 3, 2002.

The Company has allocated the aforementioned purchase price based on the estimated fair values of the elements of this trans-
action as of January 3, 2002, as follows:

Accounts receivable $ 1,386
Refundable deposits 349
Property and equipment 61
Customer acquisition costs 3,674

5,470

The customer acquisition costs of $3,674 described above were charged to network and product costs for the year ended December
31, 2002 {j) because the Company’s retationship with InternetConnect’s former customers did not exist as of January 3, 2002 and (i)
based on the Company’s accounting policy for costs of this nature that are not accompanied by up-front fees (Note 4).

Unconsolidated Investments in Affiliates

The following table lists the Company’s unconsolidated investments in affiliates as of December 31, 2002 and 2001:

Date of Ownership Percentage Method of Investment Carrying Value

Entity Name Investment(s) 2002 2001 Accounting 2002 2001

DishnetDSL Limited February 2000 —% 6% Equity $ - s 3,000

ACCA Networks Co., Ltd. August 2000 10% 18% Equity - —
Certive Corporation November 1999;

May 2000 5% 5% Equity 1,026 1,874

Sequoia Capital X May-November 2000 —% —% Equity - —

Loop Holdings
Europe ApS September 2000 —% 21% Equity ~ —
1,026 4,874

DishneiDSL Limited

In February 2000, the Company acquired a 6% American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) equity interest in DishnetDSL Limited
(“Dishnet”), a privately held, Indian telecommunications company, in exchange for cash payments totaling approximately
$23,000, which the Company believed was representative of the fair value of such investment based on significant concurrent
investments in Dishnet made by new, non-strategic investors. The difference between the cost of the Company’s equity investment
in Dishnet and its proportional share of Dishnet’s net assets ($11,963 as of December 31, 2001) was being amortized using the
straight-line method over a period of five years. Concurrent with its purchase of the Dishnet ADRs, the Company also acquired,
without further consideration, (i) contingent warrants for the purchase of up to 3,700,000 Dishnet ADRs at a price that is present-
ly indeterminate and (i) a put option {the “Put Option”) from a Dishnet shareholder and another entity that entitles the Company
to require these entities to purchase the Dishnet ADRs owned by the Company at their original purchase price for a specified peri-
od beginning in February 2002. Because of the contingent nature of the Dishnet warrants and uncertainties concerning the finan-
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cial capacity of the makers of the Put Option, the Company ascribed no separate value to these elements of the transaction. As a
result of this strategic investment, one employee of the Company became a member of the board of directors of Dishnet. (The
Company’s chairman holds options to purchase shares of Dishnet and is a member of the board of directors of Dishnet).

in February 2002, the Company’s board of directors approved an offer involving (i) the sale of the Company’s 6% ADR interest in
Dishnet for $3,000 in cash, (i) settlement of a claim alleging breach of contract by the Company relating to the 0SS license
described below and (jii) relinquishment of the Put Option by the Company. Consequently, during 2001, the Company wrote-down
the carrying value of its Dishnet equity investment to its estimated net realizable value through a charge to the provision for
impairment of unconsolidated equity investments in the amount of $10,069. This transaction was completed in May 2002, which
resulted in the recognition of an additional loss in the amount of $996. Such loss included a cumulative foreign currency transla-
tion loss in the amount of $1,342, which was included in (j) the carrying value of the Company’s Dishnet equity investment and (ii)
the Company’s accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balance as of the date|of sale of such investment.

in February 2000, the Company also licensed its 0SS software to Dishnet and another|entity for $28,000, $24,000 of which was
received in cash on such date. The Company also agreed to provide certain software support, customization and training services
to Dishnet and another entity relating to the 0SS license up to an aggregate cost of $2,500. Accordingly, the Company recorded
$2,500 of the 0SS license proceeds received from Dishnet as a liability in February 2000, all of which has been offset by expens-
es incurred in 2000 and 2001 by the Company to customize the 0SS for Dishnet. The remaining proceeds of $21,500 have been
offset against the Company’s capitalized internal use software costs.

ACCA Networks Co,, Ltd.

In August 2000, the Company acquired a 42% preferred equity interest in ACCA Networks Co., Ltd. (“ACCA”), a privately held,
Japanese telecommunications company, in exchange for cash payments aggregating approximately $11,700, which the Company
believes is representative of the fair value of such investment based on significant conturrent investments in ACCA made by new,
non-strategic investors. The difference between the cost of the Company’s equity investment in ACCA and its proportional share
of ACCA’s net assets had been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001. As a result of this strategic investment, one employee of
the Company is a member of the board of directors of ACCA.

In addition, in August 2000, the Company also licensed its 0SS software to ACCA for| $9,000, of which $2,000 and $2,000 was
received in cash during 2001 and 2000, respectively. The remainder of $5,000 is due {n December 2005. The Company may also
receive certain royalty payments from ACCA in the future under terms of the OSS license agreement. The Company also agreed to
provide certain software support, customization and training services to ACCA relating|to the 0SS license up to an aggregate cost
of $2,000. Accordingly, the Company recorded $2,000 of the 0SS license proceeds received from ACCA as a liability in August
2000, all of which has been offset by expenses incurred in 2000 and 2001 by the Company to customize the 0SS for ACCA. Any
additional proceeds will be recorded under the cost recovery method when received as a reduction of the Company’s capitalized
internal use software costs. Such proceeds amounted to $814 during the year ended| December 31, 2002 (none during the year
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000).

Certive Corporation

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company held a 5% preferred equity interest in Certive Corporation (“Certive®), a private-
ly held, development stage application service provider. The Company’s chairman is also the chairman and a principal stockhold-
er of Certive.

Sequoia Capital X

As of December 31, 2000, the Company held a 2% limited partnership interest in Sequoia Capital X, a privately held venture capi-
tal partnership. The Company sold its investment in Sequoia Capital X during 2001 for|$1,225 in cash, which resulted in the recog-
nition of a gain in the amount of $178.
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Loop Holdings Europe ApS

in September 2000, the Company acquired 100% of the capital stock of Loop Holdings Europe ApS (“Loop Holdings”), which owns
70% (a 43% voting interest) of the preferred stock of Loop Telecom, S.A. (“Loop Telecom”), a privately held, Spanish telecommu-
nications company. Consideration for the Company’s acquisition of the capitat stock of Loop Holdings consisted of $15,00¢ in cash
and non-recourse notes payable aggregating $35,000. In March 2001, the Company declined to make the first scheduled payment
of $15,000 under the terms of the non-recourse notes payable. As a resuit, the Company's indirect preferred equity interest in Loop
Telecom was diluted to 21% (a 21% voting interest) and its obligations under the non-recourse notes payable were released.
Accordingly, in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2000, the Company netted the non-recourse notes
payable aggregating $35,000 against the equity investment balance and wrote-off its initial $15,000 investment balance in Loop
Holdings through a charge to operations in 2000 due to uncertainties concerning the recoverability of such investment.

On February 5, 2002, the Company, via Loop Holdings, sold its equity interest in Loop Telecom to certain other shareholders of
Loop Telecom for $360 in cash, which resulted in the recognition of a gain in the amount of $360.

7. Credit Arrangements

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s long-term debt consisted of a $50,000 term note payable to SBC (Note 11), as
described below.

Immediately prior to Covad’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy on December 20, 2001 (Note 3), the Company’s new agree-
ments with SBC became effective (Note 11). One such agreement (the “Credit Agreement™) involves a term note payable that is col-
lateralized by substantially all of the Company’s domestic assets. This note bears interest at 11%, which is payable quarterly
beginning in December 2003. The entire unpaid principal balance is payable in December 2005. However, the Company has the
right to prepay the principal amount of the note, in whole or in part, at any time without penalty. In addition, upon a “Change of
Control,” as defined in the Credit Agreement, of the Company, SBC has the option to require all amounts due under the terms of
the Credit Agreement to be paid by the Company within 30 days of the Change of Control. The Credit Agreement contains various
restrictive covenants, which, among other things, restrict the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness or permit liens to
be placed on its assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company recorded in its consolidated balance sheet, as part of the BlueStar acqui-
sition {Note 6), various other financing arrangements, principally to finance the acquisition, build-out and maintenance of
BlueStar’s networks and communication equipment. These financing arrangements bear interest rates ranging from 7.75% to
12.0% and mature between August 2001 and july 2003. These financing arrangements were classified as current liabilities in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2000. However, as described in Note 3, the Company deconsolidated
BlueStar effective June 25, 2001.

Aggregate scheduled future principal payments, absent any optional or mandatory prepayments, of long-term debt are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

2003-2004 3 -
2005 50,000
TOTAL 50,000

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had a $3,000 revolving line of credit with a bank that is available through April 2003 and
collateralized by cash equivalents and short-term investments with an aggregate carrying value of $5,087 as of December 31,
2002. At the Company’s option, borrowings under this credit facility bear interest at certain fixed or variable rates. As of
December 31, 2002, the Company has issued letters of credits aggregating $2,075 under this line of credit in favor of lessors of
equipment and facilities.
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8. Capital Leases
The Company has a capital lease arrangement related to its acquisition of equipment that expires in 2003.

The capitalized costs and accumulated amortization related to assets under capital leases were $482 and $344, respectively, as
of December 31, 2002 (the corresponding amounts were $133 and $133, respectively, as of December 31, 2001).

The Company did not have significant minimum lease payments under these capital leases as of December 31, 2002.

o. Operating Leases

The Company leases vehicles, equipment, and office space under various noncancelable operating leases. The facility leases gen-
erally require the Company to pay operating costs, including property taxes, insurance and maintenance, and contain scheduled
rent increases and certain other rent escalation clauses. The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the respective leases. Future minimum lease payments by year under operating leases with noncancelable terms in
excess of one year, along with future minimum payments to be received under noncancelable subleases, are as follows:

Gross Lease Less Sublease Net Lease

Year ending December 31, Payments Payments Payments
2003 $ 6,875 % 38t % 6,494
2004 3,685 317 3,668
2005 2,336 — 2,336
2006 1,653 - 1,653
2007 801 - 801
Thereafter 720 - 720
TOTAL | 16,370 698 15,672

Rent expense, which is net of sublease income of $402 and $152 in 2002 and 2001, respectively, (none in 2000) totaled $8,710,
$15,421 and $19,584 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectjvely.

10. Contingencies

Litigation
Purchasers of the Company’s common stock and purchasers of the convertible notes the Company issued in September 2000 have
filed complaints on behalf of themselves and alleged classes of stockholders and holders of convertible notes against the
Company and certain of its present and former officers and directors. These complajints were filed in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California (“District Court”) in the fourth quarter of 2oc0. The complaints have been consolidat-
ed and the lead plaintiff has filed its amended consolidated complaint. The amended tonsolidated complaint alleges violations of
federal securities laws on behalf of persons who purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s securities, including common
stock and notes, during the period from April 19, 2000 to May 24, 2001. The relief sojught includes monetary damages and equi-
table retief. In 2001, the Company and the officer and director defendants entered inta a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”)
with counsel for the lead plaintiffs in this litigation that tentatively resolves the litigation. The MOU sets forth the terms upon
which the Company, the officer and director defendants and the plaintiffs agree to settle the litigation. Pursuant to the MOU, the
plaintiffs agreed to support and vote in favor of the Company’s bankruptcy plan if it provided for the distribution of $16,500 in cash
to be funded by the Company’s insurance carriers and 6,495,844 shares of the Campany’s common stock. Consequently, the
Company recorded a liability of $18,578 in its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001 through a charge to litigation-
related expenses for the year then ended in connection with this anticipated settleant. As a result of changes in the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock, the Company decreased this liability to $6,9 ;0 as of December 31, 2002 through a credit
to litigation-related expenses in the amount of $11,628 for the year then ended. One class member has filed an appeal to the
District Court’s final judgment and dismissal order, but this appeal only relates tg the allocation of the settlement proceeds
between the plaintiffs and their attorneys.
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In April 1999, the Company filed a lawsuit against Bell Atlantic (now Verizon) and its affiliates in the United States District Court
for the District of Columbia. The Company is pursuing antitrust and other claims in this lawsuit arising out of Verizon’s conduct as
a supplier of network facilities, including central office space, transmission facilities and telephone lines. In December 2000, the
Company also filed a lawsuit against BellSouth Telecommunications and its subsidiaries in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia. The Company is pursuing claims in this lawsuit that are similar to its claims against Verizon. Both
courts dismissed some of the Company’s claims based on the ruling of the Seventh Circuit in Goldwasser v. Ameritech. The court
in the Verizon case also dismissed the Company’s remaining claims on other grounds. The Company voluntarily dismissed its
remaining claims in the BellSouth case so it could pursue certain issues on appeal. The Company appealed these decisions to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit and the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia. On
August 2, 2002, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the lower court’s decision in the BellSouth case and remanded the
case for further proceedings. BellSouth has requested a rehearing before the Eleventh Circuit. On or about December 20, 2002,
the Eleventh Circuit denied BellSouth’s request for a rehearing. The matter was subsequently remanded to the District Court where
itis pending. In addition, the United States Supreme Court has agreed to review a decision from the United States Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuit entitled Verizon Communications v. Law Offices of Curtis Trinko, which rejected the Goldwasser decision.
The Eleventh Circuit relied in part on the Trinko decision when it reversed the lower court’s dismissal of the Company’s claims
against BellSouth. The Company cannot predict the outcome of these matters.

On June 11, 2001, Verizon Communications filed a lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California. Verizon is a supplier of telephone lines that the Company uses to provide services to its customers. In its
amended complaint, Verizon claims that the Company falsified trouble ticket reports with respect to the phone lines that the
Company ordered and seeks unspecified monetary damages (characterized as being in the “millions™) and injunctive relief. The
current complaint asserts causes of action for negligent and intentional misrepresentation and violations of California’s unfair
competition statute. On November 13, 2002, the District Court entered summary judgment in favor of the Company and dismissed
Verizon’s claims against the Company in their entirety. Verizon has appealed the dismissal of its lawsuit. The Company believes it
has strong defenses to this lawsuit, but litigation is inherently unpredictable and there is no guarantee it will prevail.

Several stockholders have filed complaints in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, on behalf of
themselves and purported classes of stockholders, against the Company and several former and current officers and directors in
addition to some of the underwriters in the Company’s stock offerings. These lawsuits are so-called IPO allocation cases, chal-
lenging practices allegedly used by certain underwriters of public equity offerings during the late 19g0s and z000. On April 19,
2002 the plaintiffs amended their complaint and removed the Company as a defendant. Certain directors and officers are still
named in the complaint. The plaintiffs claim that the Company failed to disclose the arrangements that some of these underwrit-
ers purportedly made with certain investors. The Company believes it has strong defenses to these lawsuits and intends to con-
test them vigorously. However, because these lawsuits are at an early stage, the Company is unable to provide an evaluation of
the ultimate outcome of the litigation.

A manufacturer of telecommunications hardware named “COVID” has filed an opposition to the Company’s trademark application
for the mark “COVAD and design” and is seeking to cancel the Company's registration of the COVAD trademark. The Company does
not believe that this opposition has merit, but trademark proceedings are unpredictable and there is no guarantee it will prevail.
If it does not succeed, it could limit the Company’s ability to provide its services under the “COVAD” name. In September 2000,
COVID also filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Arizona, alleging claims for false designation of
origin, infringement and unfair competition. COVID is seeking an injunction to stop the Company from using the COVAD trademark,
as well as an award of monetary damages. The Company does not believe that these claims have any merit, but the outcome of
litigation is unpredictable and it cannot guarantee that it will prevail.

In June 2002, Dhruv Khanna was relieved of his duties as the Company’s General Counsel and Secretary. Shortly thereafter, Mr.
Khanna alleged that, over a period of years, certain current and former directors and officers breached their fiduciary duties to the
Company by engaging in or approving actions that constituted waste and self-dealing, that certain current and former directors
and officers had provided false representations to the Company's auditors and that he had been relieved of his duties in retalia-
tion for his being a purported whistleblower and because of racial or national origin discrimination. He has threatened to file a
shareholder derivative action against those current and former directors and officers, as well as a wrongful termination lawsuit.
Mr. Khanna was placed on paid leave while his allegations were being investigated.
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The Company’s Board of Directors appointed a special investigative committee, wh

ich initially consisted of Dale Crandall and

Hellene Runtagh, to investigate the allegations made by Mr. Khanna. Richard Jalkut was appointed to this committee shortly after

he joined the Company’s Board of Directors. This committee retained an independent
on this investigation, the committee concluded that Mr. Khanna’s allegations were w
best interests of the Company to commence litigation based on these allegations. The

that many of Mr. Khanna's allegations were not accurate, that certain allegations chall

aw firm to assist in its investigation. Based
thout merit and that it would not be in the
committee considered, among other things,
enged business decisions lawfully made by

management or the board of directors, that the transactions challenged by Mr. Khanna in which any director had an interest were

approved by a majority of disinterested directors in accordance with Delaware law, th
sentations to the Company’s auditors were true and accurate, and that Mr. Khanna
retaliation for alleged whistleblowing or racial or national origin discrimination. Mr.
and the outcome of its investigation.

After the committee’s findings had been presented and analyzed, the Company conc

at the challenged director and officer repre-
as not relieved of his duties as a result of
Khanna has disputed the committee’s work

uded in January 2003 that it would not be

appropriate to continue Mr. Khanna on paid leave status, and determined that there was no suitable role for him at the Company.

Accordingly, he was terminated as an employee of the Company. While the Company b
above are without merit, and will be vigorously defended if brought, it is unable to pre

elieves Mr. Khanna'’s contentions referred to
dict the outcome of any potential lawsuit.

The Company is also a party to a variety of other pending or threatened legal proceedings as either plaintiff or defendant, or is
engaged in business disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. Failure to resolve these various legal disputes and con-

troversies without excessive delay and cast and in a manner that is favorable to the
ness. The Company does not believe the ultimate outcome of these matters will have
cial position and results of operations. However, litigation is inherently unpredictable
prevail or otherwise not be adversely affected.

The Company is subject to state public utility commission, FCC and other court decis
implementation of the 1996 Telecommunications Act, the interpretation of competit
nection agreements in general, and the Company’s interconnection agreements in pa
bound by or may otherwise be significantly impacted by the results of ongoing procee

Company could significantly harm its busi-
a material impact on its consolidated finan-
and there is no guarantee the Company will

ons as they relate to the interpretation and
ve telecommunications company intercon-
ticular. In some cases the Company may be
dings of these bodies or the legal outcomes

of other contested interconnection agreements that are similar to the Company’s agreements. The results of any of these pro-

ceedings could harm the Company’s business.

In addition, the Company is engaged in a variety of legal proceedings with several t
ceedings concern the traditional telephone companies’ denial of central office space to
mission facilities and telephone lines and central office spaces, billing issues and othe
of legal fees and expenses, which are not quantifiable but are expected to be materiz
matters will result in material liability to us and the potential gains are not quantifiable
these proceedings, however, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ¢
operations if the Company is denied access or charged higher rates for transmission (i

Other Contingencies

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had disputes with a number of telecommuni
owed to such telecommunications carriers for collocation fees and certain network se
will be resolved without a material adverse effect on its consclidated financial posit
reasonably possible that the Company’s estimates of its collocation fee and network s
panying consolidated balance sheets, could change in the near term, and the effects
dated financial position and results of operations. In this regard, on February 26, 2002
ment with Verizon involving certain disputed collocation fee and network service obl
agreement, () the Company was relieved of an accrued collocation fee and network

raditional telephone companies. These pro-
the Company, the cost and delivery of trans-
operational issues. Other than the payment
al, the Company does not believe that these
2 at this time. An unfavorable result in any of
onsolidated financial position and results of
nes or central office spaces.

kcations companies concerning the balances
rvices. The Company believes such disputes
on and results of operations. However, it is

ervice obligations, as reflected in the accom-

could be material to the Company’s consoli-
, the Company executed a settlement agree-

igations. Under the terms of this settlement
service obligation with a balance of $5,570,

which was recarded as a reduction of network and product costs during the fourth quarter of 2001 and (i) Verizon’s ultimate dam-

age award or settlement, if any, pursuant to the Company’s antitrust lawsuit agains
$6,600. Furthermore, in May 2002, the Company executed a settlement agreement
involving certain disputed network service obligations. Under the terms of this settle
of a network service obligation with a recorded balance of $6,018 through a combing
that reduced network and product costs during the year ended December 31, 2002. In
ety of legal proceedings with multiple telephone companies. These negotiations, arbi
the traditional telephone companies’ denial of physical central office space to the Co
delivery of transmission facilities and telephone lines and central office space, billing
vorable outcome in any of these negotiations, arbitrations and regulatory proceedin

Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations if it is denied o
or central office space.
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As of December 31, 2002, the Company was analyzing the applicability of certain transaction-based taxes to (i) sales of the
Company’s products and services and (i) purchases of telecommunications circuits from various carriers. This analysis includes dis-
cussions with authorities of significant jurisdictions in which the Company does business to determine the extent of the Company’s
respective transaction-based tax liabilities. It is the Company’s opinion that such analysis will be concluded without a material
adverse effect on its consolidated financial position and results of operations. However, it is reasonably possible that the Company’s
estimates of its transaction-based tax liabilities, as reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, could change in the
near term, and the effects could be material to the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

11, Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Strategic Investors

in January 1999, the Company entered into strategic relationships with AT&T Corp., NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. (now XO
Communications) and Qwest Communications Corporation. As part of these strategic relationships, the Company received equity
investments totaling approximately $60,000. The Company recorded intangible assets of $28,700 associated with these transac-
tions that were being amortized over periods of three to six years using the straight-line method. For the year ended December 31,
2000, such amortization expense totaled $8,300 (none in 2002 or 2001-Note 5).

On September 20, 2000, the Company entered into various agreements (the “September 2000 Agreements”) with SBC
Communications, Inc. (“SBC”), including (i) a six-year resale and marketing agreement under which SBC was to market and resell
the Company’s DSL services {through December 31, 2000, the Company had not provided any DSL services to SBC or recognized
any revenues under this arrangement), (i) a stock purchase agreement whereby SBC acquired, on November 6, 2000, a minority
ownership position of approximately 6% of the Company’s outstanding common stock in exchange for $150,000, and (iii) a set-
tlement agreement of the Company’s pending legal matters with SBC and its affiliates including performance standards and line-
sharing arrangements governing the future commercial relationship between the two entities in all 13 SBC states.

Effective December 20, 2001, immediately prior to Covad’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy (Note 3), the Company entered
into a series of new agreements with SBC, including (i) a $50,000 Credit Agreement (Note 7), (i) a 10-year resale agreement (the
“Resale Agreement”) under which SBC, its affiliates or special agents will resell the Company’s DSL services (SBC made a $75,000
noninterest-bearing prepayment, which is collateralized by substantially of the Company’s domestic assets, to the Company on
December 20, 2001 under the terms of the Resale Agreement) and (i) a termination and mutual general release agreement (the
“Termination Agreement”) that resulted in the cancellation of the September 2000 Agreements, except for the stock purchase
agreement and an interconnection and line-sharing agreement that remains in effect. The Company received a payment of $10,000
from SBC on December 20, 2001 under the terms of the Termination Agreement, which was deferred and is being recognized as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the 10-year term of the Resale Agreement.

Common Stock

6,625 and 141,897 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, were sub-
ject to repurchase provisions which generally lapse over a four-year period from the date of issuance.

Common stock reserved for future issuance as of December 31, 2002 was as follows:

Bankruptcy claims (Note 3) 7,078,733

Outstanding options 25,675,014
Options available for grant 15,957,768
Employee stock purchase plan 6,450,827
Outstanding warrants 3,736,574

TOTAL 58,898,916

Stockholder Protection Rights Plan

On February 15, 2000, the Company’s board of directors adopted a Stockholder Protection Rights Plan under which stockholders
received one right for each share of the Company’s common stock or Class B common stock owned by them, The rights become
exercisable, in most circumstances, upon the accumulation by a person or group of 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding
shares of common stock. Each right entitles the holder to purchase from the Company, as provided by the Stockholder Protection
Rights Agreement, one one-thousandth of a share of participating preferred stock, par value $.001 per share, for $400 per share,
subject to adjustment. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, none of these rights were exercisable.
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Warrants

On September 4, 2002, in conjunction with the execution of a five-year Broadband|Internet Access Service Agreement (the
“Broadband Agreement”) with America Online, Inc., a wholesale customer, the Company granted America Online three warrants
to purchase 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for $1.06 per share, 1,0p0,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock for $3.00 per share and 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for $5.00 per share. Such warrants were imme-
diately exercisable, fully vested and non-forfeitable at the date of grant. Accordingly, the measurement date for these warrants
was the date of grant. The aggregate fair value of such warrants of $3,790, which was determined using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model and the following assumptions: closing price of the Company’s commopn stock on September 4, 2002 of $1.14 per
share; expected life of seven years (which is also the contractual life of the warrants); dividend yield of zero; volatility of 1.56; and
a risk-free interest rate of 3.63%, was recorded as a deferred customer incentive and |s being recognized as a reduction of rev-
enues {($250 for the year ended December 31, 2002) on a straight-line basis over the five-year term of the Broadband Agreement
because management believes that future revenues from America Online will exceed the fair value of the warrants described
above, However, because the Broadband Agreement contains no minimum purchase commitment and is cancelable under certain
circumstances by America Online, the Company will continue to monitor the recoverability of the deferred customer incentive bal-
ance described above in periods ending subsequent to December 31, 2002.

Warrants for the purchase of 236,574 shares of the Company’s common stock were outstanding as of December 31, 2002. Such
warrants are exercisable at prices ranging from $0.0015 to $48.44 per share during periods ending between February 2003 and
March 2008. All such warrants were vested as of December 31, 2002.

12. Income Taxes

The Company has made no provision for income taxes in any period presented in the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments because it incurred operating losses in each of these periods. In addition, the Company made no provision for income taxes
on the extraordinary gain resulting from the extinguishment of debt in 2001 (Note 3) dye to the relevant Federal and state tax reg-
ulations governing the treatment of debt extinguishment income in Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings.

A reconciliation of income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate (35%) to income tax expense (benefit) recorded in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

| 2002 2001 2000
Federal benefit at statutory rate $ 64,690) $ (241,139) (505,098)
Nondeductible interest expense - 878 1,189
Net operating losses with no current benefits 65,704 206,948 342,863
Goodwill — — 158,257
Decaonsolidation of BlueStar - 23,915 -
Other (1,014) 9,398 2,789

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) | - — -

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the darrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax
assets and liabilities for federal and state income taxes are as follows:

December 31,

2002 2001

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 284,482 § 149,756
Capital loss carryforwards 10,803 —
Deferred and unearned revenue 45,600 69,132
Deconsolidation of BlueStar 21,589 -
Unconsolidated investments in affiliates 12,424 25,454
Depreciation and amortization 36,037 36,437
Other 11,107 11,734
Total deferred tax assets 422,042 292,513
Valuation allowance (422,042) (292,513)

Net deferred tax assets - -
Deferred tax liabilities — -
NET DEFERRED TAXES - —
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Realization of the Company’s deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss carryforwards and other temporary differences is
dependent upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, the Company’s net deferred tax
assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased (decreased) by $129,529, ${(145,941)
and $411,672 during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of $646,000, which
will expire beginning in the year 2021, if not utilized. The Company’s federal net operating loss carryforwards were reduced by
approximately $995,000 as a result of the Company’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings (Note 3). The Company also had net
operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of approximately $1,165,000, which begin to expire in 2004, if not uti-
lized. In addition, the Company had capital loss carryforwards for both federal and state income tax purposes of approximately
$27,000, which begin to expire in 2006, if not utilized.

The tax benefits associated with employee stock options provided cumulative deferred tax benefits of approximately $2,300 at
December 31, 2002. Such deferred tax benefits have been offset by a valuation allowance and will be credited to additional paid-
in capital when realized.

The utilization of the Company’s net aperating losses may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the “change in own-
ership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may
result in the expiration of net operating losses and tax credits before utilization.

13. Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a defined contribution retirement plan under Section 4o01(k) of the Internal Revenue Code that covers substan-
tially all employees. Eligible employees may contribute amounts to the plan, via payroll withholding, subject to certain limitations.
The Company does not match contributions by plan participants.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Laser Link (Note 6} and BlueStar (Notes 4 and 6), the Company merged Laser
Link’s and BlueStar’s defined contribution retirement plan under Section 4o01(k) of the Internal Revenue Code into the Company’s
defined contribution retirement plan.

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In January 1999, the Company adopted the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The Company has reserved a total of 6,450,827
shares of common stock for issuance under the plan. Eligible employees may purchase common stock at 85% of the lesser of the
fair market value of the Company’s commeon stock on the first day of the applicable twenty-four month offering period or the last
day of the applicable six month purchase period.

Stock Option Plans

The 1997 Stock Plan (the “Plan™) provides for the grant of stock purchase rights and options to purchase shares of common stock
to employees and consultants from time to time as determined by the Company's board of directors. The options expire from two
to eight years after the date of grant. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has reserved 41,632,782 shares of the Company’s
common stock under the Plan for sale and issuance at prices to be determined by the Company’s board of directors.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Laser Link, the Company assumed Laser Link’s stock option plan. Laser Link’s
stock option plan provides for the grant of options to purchase shares of common stock to employees and consultants from time
to time. The options expire up to ten years after the date of grant. The Company assumed the Laser Link stock option plan at the
time it acquired Laser Link and it is no longer issuing options under the Laser Link stock option plan. A maximum of 1,434,957
shares of the Company’s common stock will be available for issuance under the Laser Link Plan. The options granted under the
Laser Link plan are included in the data set forth below.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of BlueStar, the Company assumed BlueStar's stock option plan. BlueStar’s stock
option plan provides for the grant of options to purchase shares of common stock to employees and consultants from time to time,
The options expire up to ten years after the date of grant. The Company assumed the BlueStar stock option plan at the time it
acquired BlueStar and it is no longer issuing options under the BlueStar stock option plan. A maximum of 1,251,182 shares of the
Company’s common stock will be available for issuance under the BlueStar stock option plan. The options granted under the
BlueStar stock option plan are included in the data set forth below.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for the years ended December 31,2002, 2001 and 2000:

Number of Shares of Option Price Per
Common Stock Share
Balance as of December 31, 1999 24,522,633 $ 0.007 -$% 44.67
Granted and assumed 16,604,003 0.001 149.79
Exercised (5,461,935) 0.001 66.58
Cancelled (7,930,326) 0.001 64.75
Balance as of December 31, 2000 27,734,375 0.001 149.79
Granted 24,726,003 0.350 39.00
Exercised {4,100,977) 0.001 2.56
Cancelled (16,759,071 0.001 149.79
Balance as of December 31, 2001 31,600,330 0.001 149.79
Granted 2,281,048 0.940 2.30
Exercised (1,005,937) 0.001 2.56
Cancelled (7,160,427) 0.001 149.79
balance as of December 31, 2002 25,675,014 0.001 149.79

The following is a summary of the status of stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average verage Number of Average
Exercise Price Range Number of Shares  Life Remaining Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
$ 0.001 - § 0.49 1,352,912 4.9 % 0.28 872,479 $ 0.20
0.49 0.56 5,233,664 6.7 0.56 1,565,584 0.56
0.60 0.84 3,046,423 6.3 0.81 1,260,415 0.80
0.86 1.43 2,758,181 7.1 1.23 1,097,319 1.30
1.44 2.55 2,623,164 6.2 1.94 1,048,901 2.07
2.56 2.56 4,606,939 6.2 2.56 2,754,640 2.56
2.59 26.69 2,753,480 5.3 10.76 1,915,725 10.36
27.11 58.25 2,598,061 4.8 38.53 2,070,757 38.11
58.58 149.79 702,190 5.2 63.51 483,128 63.53
0.001 149.79 25,675,014 6.1 7.80 13,068,948 10.89

In addition to the reversal of stock-based compensation described in Note 1 under “Basis of Presentation,” during the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company reversed approximately $136 and $1,213, [respectively, of stock-based compensation
recorded in prior years due to the termination of certain employees. During the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2000, the
Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation of approximately $426 and $628, respectively, as a result of employment
status changes, stock option grants and restricted stock issuances with exercise or purchase prices that were less than the fair
value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant or issuance (none in 2001). These amounts are being amortized to oper-
ations over the respective vesting periods of the underlying options using a graded vesting method. Amortization (reversal) of
deferred stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was approximately $(3,358), $1,597
and $4,481, respectively. Included in the amortization of deferred stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000 are amounts aggregating $302 and $724, respectively, relating to accelerated vesting provisions included in stock
options granted to certain employees in previous years. These accelerated vesting provisions were triggered by the resignation of
such employees during 2001 and 2000. No similar amounts are included in the amortization of deferred stock-based compensa-
tion in 2002.

During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company extended the exercise period of options granted to certain
former employees for the purchase of 272,184 and 244,550 shares, respectively, of the Company’s common stock. Consequently,
for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $221 and
$253, respectively, which represents the difference between the exercise price of these options and the fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the respective dates of the option award modifications. The Company did not modify any stock-
based awards in 2000.

81 / cOvAD 02




The Company grants options to consultants from time to time in exchange for services. In general, these options vest over the con-
tractual period of the consulting arrangement. The Company granted options to consultants to purchase 347,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock in 2001. No options were granted to consultants in 2002 and 2000. The fair value of these options is
being amortized to expenses over the vesting term of the options. The Company recorded expenses of $64 and $186 for the fair
value of these options in 2002 and 2001, respectively (none in 2000). As of December 31, 2002 and 2001 the fair value of the
remaining unvested options granted to consultants was $3 and $643, respectively. These charges are subject to adjustment based
on the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date the options vest.

Pro forma Stock-Based Compensation information

Pro forma information regarding the results of operations and net income (loss) per share (Note 1) is determined as if the Company
had accounted for its employee stock options using the fair value method. Under this method, the fair value of each option grant-
ed is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

The Company uses the intrinsic value method in accounting for its employee stock options because, as discussed below, the alter-
native fair value accounting requires the use of option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing employee stock
options. Under the intrinsic value method, when the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options equals or exceeds
the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized.

Option valuation models were developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and
are fully transferable. in addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expect-
ed life of the option. Because the Company’s employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of trad-
ed options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates, in management’s
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the fair value of the Company’s stock-based awards to employees was
estimated using the following weighted average assumptions:

2002 2001 2000
Expected life of options in years 4.0 4.0 4.0
Volatility 152.1% 169.2% 171.0%
Risk-free interest rate 3.1% 3.5% 5.1%
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

14. Business Segments

The Company disaggregates its business operations based upon differences in services and marketing channels, even though the
cash flows from these operations are not largely independent of each other. The Company’s wholesale division (“Wholesale”) is a
provider of high-speed connectivity services, which utilize DSL technology, to ISP, enterprise and telecommunications carrier cus-
tomers. The Company’s direct division (“Direct”) is a provider of high-speed connectivity, Internet access and other services to
individuals, small and medium-sized businesses, corporations and other organizations. As described in Note 4, on June 25, 2001,
BlueStar, which was a component of Direct, made an irrevocable assignment for the benefit of creditors of all its assets to an inde-
pendent trustee in the State of Tennessee and, accordingly, was not part of the Company’s operations during periods beginning
after June 25, 2001. Corporate operations represent general corporate expenses, headquarters facilities and equipment, invest-
ments, and other nonrecurring and unusual items not allocated to the segments.

The accounting policies used in measuring segment assets and operating results are the same as those described in Notes 1 and
2. The items discussed in Notes 3, 4, 5 and 6 are not allocated to the segments and are included in corporate operations. Networks
and communication equipment and related computer software and collocation fees (Note 1 and 5), and the associated deprecia-
tion and amortization expense, are allocated to Wholesale. The Company evaluates performance of the segments based on seg-
ment operating results, excluding nonrecurring and unusual items.
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Information about the Company’s current business segments was as follows as of and for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000 (the Company’s 2000 segment information has been restated to conform to the Company’s organizational struc-
ture in 2002 and 2001):

Total Conporate Intercompany Consolidated
Wholesale Direct Segments Operations Eliminations Total
As of and for the year
ended December 31, 2002:
Domestic Internet and
network access revenues
from unaffiliated
customers, net $ 326,659 $ 56,837 $ 383,466 § - 3 - 3 383,496
Intersegment revenues - - - - - -
Total revenues, net 326,659 56,837 383,496 — - 383,496
Operating expenses 313,007 77,538 390,545 598,483 - 449,028
Depreciation and
amortization 106,903 2,257 109,160 3,278 - 112,438
Amortization of
intangible assets 14,650 - 14,650 - - 14,650
Non-cash litigation-
related expenses - - - (11,628) - (11,628)
Total operating expenses 434,560 79,795 514,355 50,133 - 564,488
Loss from operations (107,901) (22,958) (130,859) (60,133) - (180,992)
Interest income 5,122 - 5,122 - - 5,122
Equity in losses of
unconsolidated affiliates - - — (806) — (806)
Interest expense (5,581) - (5,581) — - (5,581)
Other income (expense),
net - - - (2.571) - (2,571)
Total other income )
(expense), net (459) - (459) (,377) - (3,836)
NET LOSS (108,360) (22,958) (131,318) (53,510 - (184,828)
Assets 430,163 5,473 435,636 6,525 - 442,161
Investments in
unconsolidated affiliates:
Domestic - — — 1,026 - 1,026
Capital expenditures for
property and equipment 21,115 1,100 22,215 567 — 22,782
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As of and for the year

ended December 31, 2001:

Domestic Internet and
network access revenues
from unaffiliated

customers, net 3

Intersegment revenues

Total revenues, net
Operating expenses
Depreciation and

amortization
Amortization of

intangible assets
Provision for restructuring
expenses
Provision for long-lived
asset impairment
Non-cash litigation-
related expenses

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Interest income

Equity in losses of
unconsolidated affiliates

Interest expense

Other income (expense), net

Total other income
(expense), net

Loss before extraordinary
item
Extraordinary item

NET INCOME (LOSS)

Assets
Investments in
unconsolidated affiliates:
Domestic
International
Capital expenditures
for property and
equipment
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Totat Corporate Intercompany Consolidated

Wholesale Direct Segments Operations Eliminations Total
285,707 $ 46,889 332,596 - - 332,596
285,707 46,889 332,596 - - 332,596
490,107 90,651 580,758 85,726 - 666,484
127,908 2,393 130,301 7,619 ~ 137,920
12,919 - 12,919 - - 12,919
- - - 14,364 - 14,364

- - - 11,988 - 11,988

- — - 25,801 — 25,801
630,934 93,044 723,978 145,498 - 869,476
(345,227) (46,155) (391,382) (245,498) - (536,880)
23,907 77 23,984 609 - 24,593
- - - (13,769) - (13,769)
(90,048) (2,734) (92,782) - - (92,782)
(6,644) (266) (6,910) (63,221) -~ (70,131
(72,785) (2,923) (75,708) (76,381) - (152,089)
(418,012) (49,078) {467,090) (221,879) - (688,969)
- - - 1,033,727 - 1,033,727
(418,012) (49,078} (467,090) 811,848 344,758
656,200 801 657,001 18,167 - 675,168
— - - 1,874 — 1,874

- -— - 3,000 - 3,000
10,454 614 11,068 4,664 - 15,732




Total Corporate intercompany Consolidated
Wholesale Direct Segments Operations Eliminations Total
For the year ended
December 31, 2000:
Domestic Internet and
network access revenues
from unaffiliated
customers, net $ 133,535 $ 25,201 158,736 - - 158,736
Intersegment revenues - - — - - -
Total revenues, net 133,535 25,201 158,736 - - 158,736
Operating expenses 626,004 41,014 667,018 69,383 - 736,401
Depreciation and
amortization 79,421 7,770 87,191 4,014 - 91,205
Amortization of intangible
assets - - - 87,220 - 87,220
Provision for restructuring
expenses - - - 4,988 - 4,988
Provision for long-lived
asset impairment - - - 589,388 - 589,388
Write-off of in-process
research and
development costs — -~ — 3,726 — 3,726
Total operating expenses 705,425 48,784 754,209 758,719 - 1,512,928
Loss from operations (571,890) (23,583) (595,473) (758,719) - (1,354,192)
Interest income 52,837 64 52,901 - - 52,901
Equity in losses of
unconsolidated affiliates - - — 6,452) — (6,452)
Interest expense (108,289) (1,574) (109,863) - - (109,863)
Other income
(expense), net (16,294) 13 (16,281) - - (16,281)
Total other income
(expense}, net (71,746) (1,497) (73,243) (6,452) - (79,695)
Loss before cumulative
effect of change in
accounting principle (643,636) (25,080) (668,716) (765,171) - (1,433,887)
Cumulative effect of
change in accounting
principle (9,249) - (9,249) - - (9,249}
NET LOSS (652,885) (25,080) {677,965) (765,:171) - (1,443,136)
Capital expenditures for
property and equipment 289,874 6,485 296,359 22,875 — 319,234
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15, Subsequent Events

On February 20, 2003, the FCC issued a press release announcing the results of its Triennial Review. Based on the Company’s under-
standing of such press release, the FCC’s Triennial Review is a significant development for the Company for the following reasons:

» The FCC announced that it is phasing out its rule requiring line-sharing over a three-year period. Line-sharing currently allows
the Company to provision services using asymmetric DSL (“ADSL”) technology over the same telephone line that the local tele-
phone company is using to provide voice services. The federal rules requiring line-sharing will be phased aout over a three-year
period, during which the Company will be required to transition its existing line-sharing customers to new arrangements. New
line-sharing customers may be acquired at regulated rates only during the first year of the transition. During each year of the
transition, the FCC-mandated maximum price for the high-frequency portion of the phone line will increase incrementally
towards the cost of a separate phone line. This means that, unless the Company reaches agreements with the local telephone
companies that provide the Company with continued access to line-sharing, it will be required to purchase a separate telephone
line in order to provide services to an end- user. The cost of a separate phone line is significantly higher than the cost of a shared
line. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately 169,000 subscriber lines using line-sharing agreements.

* The FCC also announced that the local telephone companies would not be required to allow the Company to access the pack-
et-switching functions of fiber-fed telephone lines to provision DSL services. This means that, unless the Company reaches
agreements with the local telephone companies, the Company will be unable to provide its most commonly-used services to
end-users served by fiber-fed lines. This is significant for the Company’s business because it preserves a substantial limit on
the addressable market for its services, thereby limiting its growth. In addition, the local telephone companies are increasing
their deployment of fiber-fed remote terminal architectures. The Company currently has no lines in service using packet-switch-
ing capabilities of fiber-fed telephone lines.

e The FCC announced that, if the state public utilities commissions deem it appropriate, companies that compete with the local
telephone companies would continue to have access to the local telephone companies’ networks in order to provide their serv-
ices under an arrangement known as the Unbundled Network Element platform (“UNE-P”). Under this arrangement these com-
petitive telecommunications companies purchase phone lines in order to provide voice and data services. The continued exis-
tence of the UNE-P provides the Company with the opportunity to potentially bundle its data services with the voice services of
these companies.

The FCC has not yet issued its order in the Triennial Review and it is uncertain when that order will be released. Without that order,
it is difficult for the Company to evaluate the full impact of the FCC’s decision on its business. However, based on the FCC’s
announcement, it appears that at some point the Company will be required to purchase a separate telephone line in order to pro-
vide services to an end-user, unless it reaches agreements with the local telephone companies that provide the Company with con-
tinued access to line-sharing. The cost of a separate phone line is significantly higher than the cost of a shared line. If the Company
is unable to obtain from the traditional telephone companies reasonable line-sharing rates substantially below the cost of a sep-
arate telephone line, it may stop selling stand-alone consumer grade services, which would slow the growth of its revenue and
require it to significantly change its business plan.

On January 1, 2003, in conjunction with an amendment to an Agreement for Broadband Internet Access Services with AT&T Corp.,
a wholesale customer, the Company granted AT&T Corp. three warrants to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock for $0.94 per share, 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for $3.00 per share and 1,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock for $5.00 per share. Such warrants were immediately exercisable, fully vested and nonforfeitable at the
date of grant. Accordingly, the measurement date for these warrants was the date of grant. The aggregate fair value of such war-
rants of $2,640, which was determined using the Black-Scholes option valuation model and the following assumptions: closing
price of the Company’s common stock on December 31, 2002 of $0.94 per share; expected life of seven years (which is also the
contractual life of the warrants); dividend yield of zero; volatility of 1.52; and a risk-free interest rate of 3.36%, was recorded as a
deferred customer incentive in 2003 and is being recognized as a reduction of revenues on a straight-line basis over the three-year
term of the agreement because management believes that future revenues from AT&T Corp. will exceed the fair value of the war-
rants described above.
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